Okay... What can I say... <deep breath> ... This thingy here, is the result

of 8 months worth of work for me and Debbie. I couldn't have done this

without her help, her incredible patience, and, of course, without her

permission to mess within her one and only, fantastic and fascinating

timeline. I put all my heart in this story. I started writing it as a 17

year old boy, I'm posting it now as an adult man... Time flies, but I hope

you guys will like it, and won't forget it too soon... Okay, long

introductions don't serve the fun well, so I'll just let you guys read...

Jonny

(who earned a pair of glasses on his writing job here, hehehe...)

P.S. I'm announcing it on several ML's, but I'm going to post it to just

one. Since most of us are subscribed to them all, and this is a huge text,

downloading it four times would be a bit much, don't you think?
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So, fellow fans, this is my first big-scale doing in English, thus sorry =

for poor grammar, orthography and lack of words... I want my fanfics to be of

some real value, so I'm gonna base them on my own travel experiences.

Wherever the Quest clan will go, I'll try to narrate the country's history

and describe how does it look like. This time - welcome to Libya!

I do not own The Real Adventures Of Jonny Quest. I do not own the charact=

ers

either. Most of them belong to Hanna Barbera and associated companies. I =

do

not have any financial benefit from the story (in fact, I'm just running =

up

my phone bill on this Internet business). The story is created by a fan f=

or

other fans, for pleasure and joy, out of great love and respect for the

show.

The most recent past events (and characters associated with them) that ar=

e

mentioned in the story hereby are Debbie Kluge's creation and are being u=

sed

with permission. The story is outside her main storyline (unless she deci=

des

otherwise), but despite that I am taking special care to fit it in perfec=

tly

and not cause any discordance between the story hereby and Deborah's nove=

l.

Jonny Quest

The Real Adventures

Desert Danger

*

=93Shit!=94 Andrews mumbled as he stepped into the muddy slop.  =93Not ag=

ain!=94  He

winced and pulled his coat onto his head to shield himself from the sudde=

n

rain.

The red haired woman guiding him through a rambling, narrow path right in

the middle of the Amazon rain forest didn't even seem to notice the tropi=

cal

downpour. As they rounded a bend in the trail, Andrews spied an old knaps=

ack

that had been tossed away by one of the excavators.  It looked completely

bedraggled, very similar to the way Andrews felt himself. All he wanted t=

o

do was to sit in his comfortable, dry and clean office again.

=84You see, Mr. Andrews, the Malenque used this route for transporting

resources from the quarry we've just seen to their main temple complex ri=

ght

behind that...=94

=84I'm not interested in the Malenque!=94 The man seemed a bit annoyed, =84=

I'm

here to...=94

=84Decide whether further excavation is worth funding or not? I'm trying =

to

show you what we've achieved so far, so will you please...=94

=84Okay, okay, let's carry on.=94

Estella Velasquez realized that the young lawyer, Andrews, didn't care in

any way for her research. The expedition's funding was dramatically low, =

but

some of the sponsors still wanted to reduce it. *Ignoramuses!*, she thoug=

ht.

*If only they had ANY idea of how important this dig site is...*, but the=

y

didn't even want to know, just like their lawyer. They considered sponsor=

ing

a scientific expedition a good way of advertising their companies at firs=

t,

but when the research moved on and required more and more money, they wan=

ted

to withdraw. *Jerks!*

Finally the path turned into a huge clearing. A huge stepped pyramid

dominated over crumbled and moss-grown ancient walls covered with numerou=

s

carvings. A large part of the clearing was paved with stone slabs. Estell=

a

glanced at the lawyer's face and smiled with satisfaction. Something fina=

lly

made an impression on him. Among the ancient ruins, some tents were hidde=

n.

Andrews realized they belonged to Velasquez's team. Then he noticed

something else - a Sea Knight class dual rotor helicopter, painted in

blue-grey, with a big letter "Q" on the rear engine cover. *Quest

Enterprises!*, he thought. If Quest Enterprises was one of the sponsors t=

oo,

then it just had to be something big. Andrews finally gave up.

=84All right, you've convinced me, but I must consult the chairman.=94

=84Be my guest!=94 Estella said with a smile of triumph. =84Our satellite=

 phone

is in that big tent on the left.=94

=84Thanks a lot.=94, the man said.

They crossed the clearing and entered the tent. Andrews uttered a sigh of

relief. It was relatively dry inside. As soon as Andrews finished his cal=

l,

the phone rang. Flashing green light indicated that the call could be

redirected to the laptop next to the phone, with a camera and video

communication software installed. Estella started a communication program

and after a while a face of a white-haired man appeared on the laptop's

display panel.

=84Oh, hello Race!=94

=84Hi, Estella. What's new?=94

=84The usual; another lawyer trying to find any reason to cut the funding=

.=94

Race rolled his eyes and sighed, =84Again?=94

=84Yes. But I guess I've convinced him.=94

=84Good. Unfortunately my news aren't as good.=94

=84What's up?=94

=84Travis won't come.=94

=84Oh! Damn it! I was counting on him!=94

=84I'm sorry, Estella. His daughter has caused him some trouble. Well, he

should have seen it coming.=94

"Yeah...," Estella calmed down a little. "Well, Race, at least we don't h=

ave

that kind of trouble."

"Right," Race agreed. "Jess is an angel." He laughed suddenly.

"What?" Estella asked.

"I was just thinking that angels are supposed to be able to work miracles=

."

=84Yes. So?=94

"Well, I got you back in my life again. At least from my point of view,

that's a miracle."

Race could hear the smile in her voice as she said, "Definitely a miracle=

,

for both of us."

**

Another TIE-Fighter exploded into flaming pieces, quickly expiring in the

void of outer space. Suddenly, a squadron of Rebel T-65 X-Wing starfighte=

rs

blasted its way through the first wave of the Imperial task force with a

salvo of proton torpedoes.

=84This is Red Leader, lock swing-foils in attack position.=94

=84Roger that.=94, a young female pilot designated Red Two answered.

They were closing in on a big formation of Imperial TIE-Bombers making

their attack run on a Rebel frigate. The X-Wings expanded their quad wing=

s,

thus obtaining maximum maneuverability.

=84This is Red Two, I'm beginning my firing run!=94, the young woman repo=

rted

as soon as she acquired a missile lock. Then she added a loud, "YYYEEES!"=

,

when her starfighter started spitting out the remaining missiles. The

leading TIE-Bomber started a sophisticated evasive action and it seemed f=

or

a moment that it would outmaneuver the torpedo. Not for long. The bomber

turned into a blinding sphere of flames, when the bomb load in its dual h=

ull

exploded.

=84Nice shot, Ace!=94 Red Leader commended her performance. =84BREAK LEFT=

!!!=94, he

suddenly yelled.

The girl's fighter turned tightly left just before the flaming remains of

the bomber zoomed just a couple of feet by, with its ion engines still

operative and howling like hell.

=84Cover me, Red Leader! I'm going after the rest of them!=94, before Red

Leader could reply, Red Two was already in pursuit of another bomber. The

targeting box on her fighter's heads-up display panel turned green to

indicate a good shot. She smiled triumphantly and was just about to press

the fire button on her flight control stick, when the whole world turned

into a mosaic of pixels, then faded away and turned into a round room fil=

led

with sophisticated computer equipment.

=84Ow, what's the deal, Hadji, I was just getting into it!=94, Jessie Ban=

non

complained with a woeful expression on her face as she rose from her

VR-chair and took off her headgear. Her companion, Jonny Quest, rose too.

Hadji's face took on a funny, excuse-pleading expression, =84It is past t=

ime

to go, my friends. We were to leave at half past ten.=94

Jonny glanced at his watch, =84Oh man! We were stuck in Questworld for so

long?=94 He winced.

=93I am afraid so, and we still must load the plane.=94

=84Why didn't you log us out a couple of hours earlier? We've missed our

chance to get some rest!=94, Jessie wailed.

=84What could I do? You would not let me at first and then I fell asleep.=

=94

=84Oh brother!=94, Jonny yawned. =84Well, Jess, we'd better get to work.=94

Jonny, Jessie and Hadji hadn=92t slept for the last twenty-four hours. Th=

ey

had been at their keyboards trying to fit the latest Star Wars game into

Questworld=92s operating system.

Jonny and Jessie had been through a lot. Their hard lives made them matur=

e

early. They were raised on constant journeys to the most exotic and

dangerous spots on the globe. They spent a great deal of their lives amon=

g

adults. They just *had* to be mature. The bond that developed between the=

m

really was mature and serious, but they were still kids. And they wanted =

to

profit it as much as possible. But getting so involved in a game to forge=

t

about the rest of the world for a whole night was... a bit too childish. =

Now

they had to sleep in the "Dragonfly". Not a particularly exciting

alternative.

Suddenly the door opened. =84Hey guys, ready to go?=94, Race Bannon was f=

resh as

usual. =84Oh no!=94, he winced. =84Now don't tell me you were up all nigh=

t.=94

=84I'm afraid so, Dad.=94, Jessie said with a disarming smile.

=84Just as I thought.=94, Race sighed, =84Well, I guess you're not in you=

r best

shape to fly today, Ponchita. And neither are you, kid.=94 He nodded at J=

onny,

=93I guess I'll be stuck at the controls again... And I hoped to read the

soccer championship results on our way to Libya!=94, he complained in a d=

roll

manner.

*Fuel... check, oil pressure... check, flaps n' ailerons... check, radar.=

..

c'mon, bastard! Yeah, check.*, Race ran through his preflight checklist. =

The

weather was nice. A carpet of snow was covering the meadow they were usin=

g

for an airstrip. The sky, however, was clear. Perfect. He pushed the thru=

st

lever forward. Earth trembled when Questjet's powerful afterburner kicked

on. Bannon released the wheelbrakes. The plane's nose bounced a bit up, a=

nd

central hull and tail were pressed against the ground because of the

acceleration. Snow sprayed all around from underneath the jet's wheels. I=

t

was much like a catapult launch from an aircraft carrier, but it was the

only way the huge Dragonfly could take off from a short gravel airstrip, =

not

even marked on the map. 150 knots, 175 knots... Race expanded the flaps...

230 knots... at 250 he pulled the stick gently and the slick rocket-shape=

d

jet took off into the winter noon sky. Race retracted the landing gear wi=

th

an idle move. He loved flying. Especially the Dragonfly. It was a powerfu=

l

jet, with top speed reaching four times the speed of sound. Officially th=

e

record still belonged to the Blackbird recon jet, because the nuclear bom=

ber

Suchoi T-100, from which the Dragonfly was derived, was never mass-produc=

ed.

Dragonfly-2 was the second and last of its kind. The first one was now a

bent wreck in the freezing waters of Sea of Okhock. The kids liked that

plane so much. It served the Quest clan well for so many years. There wer=

e

so many memories about it. That=92s why Dr. Quest and Race agreed to the

Moscow Aviation Museum=92s proposal. It was a bargain...the museum couldn=

=92t

afford taking care of the jet anyway. And there it was - the Dragonfly-2.

Jonny wriggled in his seat, trying to get some sleep. The Dragonfly wasn'=

t a

particularly comfortable plane. Sudden g-forces were way stronger than in

747, for example. Jonny had fallen asleep when the plane was still taxing=

,

and he woke up again during take-off. He glanced at Jessie half-conscious=

ly.

She was sweetly asleep with a soft smile.

*Now how does she do that?*, Jonny thought as another turbulence tossed h=

im

slightly in his seat. He hoped that he would finally get some rest at the

hotel in Tripoli. *Yeah, Tripoli...*, he thought of Libya's history. It h=

as

never been a happy country, but there was a time when things seemed to be

going well. During King Idris' reign. Economic growth, rapid industry

development and then the revolt begun. Islamic fundamentalists' uprising,

led by the ambitious Colonel Muammar al-Qaddafi. With most signs of weste=

rn

influence destroyed, Libya has fallen into poverty. Too bad. And it was s=

o

hard to get there! Jonny still could not believe that his dad actually

managed to convince those officials to allow them to take a look at all

those wonderful ancient monuments, scattered all over the Libyan Desert,

considered the most severe part of Sahara.

=84Sorry to wake ya up, fellows, but we're approaching the Tripoli Airpor=

t.=94,

Race's voice broke into his thoughts. Thoughts or a dream already? Someth=

ing

intermediate. A nap which didn't make him feel rested at all or, since th=

ey

were already above Africa, perhaps a dream after all, but definitely *not=

* a

relaxing one. His eyelids were still sticking together by themselves, and

his head felt as heavy as an anvil.

=84Oh. I seeeeee.... aaaahhh!....=94, He yawned deeply.

Race skewed at him anxiously, =84Whoa, Kid, don't swallow me!=94 He laugh=

ed.

Then his face became serious again, =84You're gonna need an extra day at =

the

hotel, I guess.=94

=84Well, we're not in such a hurry anyway... sorry, Race.=94

=84That's okay, Kid. I=92ll just leave you guys at the hotel on your own,=

 bring

the guy who's supposed to show us around and have a talk with him about o=

ur

stay here.=94

Jonny rallied immediately. =84They're not gonna allow us explore on our o=

wn?=94

=84You know them, Kid...=94

Jonny sighed. =84Yeah, I do.=94, he leaned towards the window and looked =

down.

They were flying along the African coastline eastbound. They traveled wit=

h

moderate speed, so they arrived just about the same hour they departed. T=

he

sky was perfectly clear. Jonny couldn't see their jet's shadow anywhere.

That meant the sun was exactly above them, frying the dusty wasteland bel=

ow,

mercilessly. A moment later the coast turned into a steep cliff, with onl=

y a

narrow beach. The sea wasn't deep here, and it was perfectly clear. The s=

oft

sandy sea-bed seemed to be a lovely shade of light aquamarine and ripple

softly (a wonderful underwater optic illusion), with the water surface

sparkling with thousands of tiny reflections of the sun above... Rocks an=

d

some sort of reefs appearing above the water surface here and there

suggested it was a perfect spot to see the local sea life . . . things li=

ke

moray eels, clown fish, sea anemones, and the Libyan seastar.  Jonny was

glad they brought their diving suits and camera gear.

=84Wow! We gotta visit this spot too, Dad!=94, Jessie was excited, the

sparkling water reflected in her admirable aquamarine eyes. Something

intermediate between blue and green, they were just about the same color =

as

the sea below them, Jonny noticed.

=84Roger that, Tripoli control. Taking heading 122.=94, Race announced

suddenly. =84Sorry folks, we've got to slide a bit right, away from the

coast.=84, he explained.

=84It's okay with me. What=92s our E.T.A.?=94

=84Five minutes. Well, fasten your seat belts."
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Tripoli seemed just about a normal city. The most distinctive thing about

it was that all the buildings were either white or at least light colored.

Quite an usual view in this climate. Light colors absorb less heat. The

buildings were not tall in this part of town. Jonny could see palm trees

between them easily from his window. The hotel was an eleven story buildi=

ng,

so the view from Jonny's room at eighth floor was a nice one. Well, he

already had his extra day of rest. As soon as they got their supervisor,

they would finally depart for Homs...

=84Hey Jonny, what are you doing?=94, he heard Jessie's voice behind him.

=84Not much,=94 he turned to face her. The red haired girl stood at the d=

oor,

=84Come in, Jess.=94

She smiled and entered his room. =84Your dad should be here soon...,=94 J=

onny

said.

=84Can't wait, huh?=94, Jessie laughed as she sat down on a sofa. =84Me n=

either.

I can't wait to see Leptis, Sirte and all that stuff. They don't usually =

let

any western tourists or scientists there.=94

Jonny sat down on the sofa too. Well, he actually fell down hardly on it

next to Jessie. He seemed a bit irritated. Waiting has never been one of =

his

strong points. =84Yeah,=94 the boy sighed, =84But it all seems perfectly =

plain and

normal for now. Where's all the fun?=94, he winced. =84What the hell are =

they

discussing out there so long?!=94

The same moment the door opened again. =84Hi Dad!=94, Jonny said as Dr. Q=

uest

entered.

=84Hello, Son. I've heard your complaining. Don't worry, I think Race has

just arrived. I suppo...,=94 he couldn't finish because Jonny and Jessie

jumped to the window and looked down. Their blue-gray Quest Utility Vehic=

le

was entering the car park. Some other car was close behind.

=84Dad,=94 Jessie stated, and they both ran toward the door.

=84But...,=94 Benton still tried to say something, but he finally gave up=

 and

sighed. "Kids".

After a brief moment he smiled. *Yes...kids.* Benton was afraid once, tha=

t

after all those tragedies and torments their hearts were through when Jes=

sie

was in Colombia they would never be the same again. He expected that he

would lose these joyful kids. That they would become a couple of serious,

life experienced adult people instead. But at that moment he asked himsel=

f

how could he ever expect these two to ever grow up. After all they suffer=

ed

their relationship was finally clear, serious, mature and incredibly

tightened... they were slightly older, smarter,. more responsible, but th=

ey

still remained the same joyful young people he loved so much. Everything =

was

back to their lovable everyday normal. Things had never been better.

Benton caught up with them down on the second floor, winded. Jonny, Jessi=

e

and Hadji were already talking with Race and some another man.

=84So... what are the news, Race?=94, he gasped.

=84Glad you're here, folks.=94, Roger answered =84Inspector Nasser here..=

., =84he

nodded towards the other man,=94 ...will be our supervisor.=94

=84Pleased to meet you.=84 Benton said and shook Nasser's hand.

=84I've heard about you, Doctor Quest.=94, the mustached Arab smiled. =84=

It will

be a pleasure working with a renowned scientist such as you.=94

Benton stifled a wince. He knew that this was one of the few reasons they

allowed them in. Libya was a completely shut and isolated country, and it

took months of painstaking work to arrange the required permits.

They still had to meet Dr. Volkov in Homs before they could see Leptis

Magna, the ancient Roman city they were interested in.

****

Homs was much like Tripoli. Just another city and another hotel. But the

further from the capital, the more exotic the country was. The night they

arrived at Homs, they heard a muezzin's song for the first time in this

country. The hotel was different than the one in Tripoli. It was smaller,

with very distinctive balconies - one long balcony for each whole floor.

Hadji was typing something on a laptop, sitting in his hotel room. He rai=

sed

his head from the screen and looked through the open balcony door to let =

his

eyes rest a bit. Those LCD displays are a bit uncomfortable. Homs suburbs

looked beautiful at night... black sky, sand-colored walls separating Ara=

b

houses below from the rest of the world... empty dusty streets, a couple =

of

lanterns pouring faint blue-gray light on their surroundings - walls, pal=

m

trees... Illuminated palm tree tops looked incredible under the black sky.

And above it all, the haunting sound of the muezzin's song, sung five tim=

es

daily from a minaret to summon the faithful for a prayer. The voice rose

above the city... like above the whole world... echoed in the deserted

streets... up to the dark sky... Hadji noticed he wasn't the only one

admiring. He spotted two people out on the balcony... he recognized Jonny

and Jessie. They were watching the exotic city together, Jonny's arm arou=

nd

the girl's waist. Hadji looked down on the screen, not willing to spoil

their privacy. Jonny and Jessie have always been a distinctive couple. As

young kids, they were already inseparable... always spending their time

together. They traveled together, played together... They got so attached=

 to

each other... and that's what their problem was. They spent their whole

lives with each other unaware what they actually felt. They just thought

that was how it should be. Francesca Hamilton was the turning point. Hadj=

i

remembered that clearly. Jonny thought that he had no chances with such a

wonderful girl like Jess, but that wasn't true. Jessie realized how

important Jonny was to her when she thought she lost him and Jonny finall=

y

realized she actually cared for him so much... The tragedy from Cairo

strengthened the bond between them. It made them so close to each other, =

but

there still were doubts worrying their hearts. Jonny didn't dare to tell =

her

how much he loved her. He was still afraid he wasn't good enough for her.=

..

that she cared for him only because of their long friendship. Jessie was

afraid too. No one told her at first how Jonny almost killed Francesca in

Cairo. She feared he still cared for the other girl... and that she was s=

o

plain and unlady-like when compared to Francesca. And when they got

separated by Jessie's departure to Colombia, all their worries caused a

disaster. A chain of tragic misunderstandings had almost destroyed their

relationship. But their love was stronger. With everything finally set

straight between them, there was no such cataclysm that could separate th=

em

now. Their feeling has been through worst horrors possible. There was sim=

ply

nothing left to threat their love. Hadji smiled. That was the point with

those two. Always unconventional. Solving problems the hardest way possib=

le.

But they were always successful. And saving their love was their greatest

success ever. Hadji unwittingly noticed them kissing good-bye and heading

back to their rooms. He remembered he didn't understand them at first... =

but

since he met Kefira he finally knew what they felt. Kefira... he just

couldn't wait to see her again.

Door bell. Jonny pulled his blanket over his head and pressed his head

deeply into the pillow. It sounded again . . . a really annoying sound.

Jonny sighed, yawned, and finally got up. He was approaching the door as =

the

bell rang again. *Oh please!*, he winced.

=84Jonny! Wake up you good-for-nothing lie-abed!=94

*Jessie*, Jonny's traditional morning moodiness was gone; he smiled and

reached to open the door. =84Hi Jess.=94

Jessie placed her hands on her hips, homicidal expression on her face. Th=

is

was typical. Doctor Volkov was about to arrive and arrange their visit to

the site he was working on, Leptis Magna, but Jonny was still dreaming. S=

he

was about to chide him with an elaborate array of epithets she thought of=

 on

her way to Jonny's room, but she hesitated now. Finally, she sighed defea=

ted

and smiled. Jonny looked so cute with that sleepy expression on his face,

tousled blonde hair and a bit too big pajama.

=84Hi.  Rested at last?=94, she asked entering the room.

=84Uhm... more or less. What's up?=94

=84The guy Volkov will be here any minute. It wouldn't be polite of you i=

f

you slept through the whole thing. I can't stick up for you all the time!=

=94

=84Okay, okay. What time is it?=94

=84Quarter past nine.=94

=84Already? Geez... Okay, give me a minute.=94 Jonny sat on his bed and s=

tarted

rummaging in his travel bag; after a while he realized his clothes were o=

n a

chair next to the bed, not in the bag. He rolled his eyes. Mornings were

simply not his time. He took his black turtleneck and was about to start

changing when he glanced up and saw Jessie gazing back at him. =84You min=

d?=94

=84Oh!=94, she smiled innocently and blushed. =84Sorry!=94, she said with

mischievous sparks in her eyes and glowing cheeks. =84Just get to the hot=

el

restaurant before half past nine, will ya? See ya downstairs!=94

Jessie left Jonny's room and rushed towards the staircase in excitement,

leaving him dressing hurriedly. She would never miss out an opportunity t=

o

ask a few questions to an archeologist working in a completely sealed and

isolated country. Volkov has been on the Leptis site for five years

straight, so his visit was quite promising. He could have found something=

 of

interest.

It was half past nine and the hotel seemed to have few visitors.  The

restaurant was almost empty and the lights were off.  The room seemed gra=

y

and sad. Lights off, loudspeakers in the ceiling silent. Jonny noticed so=

me

drops of water on one of the huge windows. It has been raining. Only one

table under a potted bushy palm tree in the corner was lit up. As he

approached the table he recognized his father, both Bannons, Hadji, and a

man unknown to him.

=84Hi! Sorry I'm late!=94, he gasped. =84How much have I missed?=94

Instead of answering Dr. Quest rose and said to the man, =84Doctor Volkov=

, let

me introduce; my son, Jonny.=94

Volkov rose. Jonny bowed. Full courtesy. The boy suddenly felt stupid wit=

h

his silly, "Hi".

=84It's a pleasure to meet you, Jonny. I've heard a great deal about you.=

=94,

the Russian archeologist greeted Jonny with a smile, leaning over the tab=

le

to shake hands. Volkov was a tall, well built man in mid-forties, with ta=

wny

face, fair hair and mustache. He had quite a grip, Jonny noticed.

=84C'mon, Jonny=94, Jessie moved a bit and offered him a place next to he=

r.

=84Oh, thanks.=94, the boy sat. The waiter appeared immediately. After al=

l,

they were the best paying guests. Jonny ordered his favorite of the Arab

dishes - a bowl of 'shawermah' (small pieces of meat in piquant spices) w=

ith

extra portion of 'harissa' (extremely pungent, dense paprika sauce).

Benton briefly narrated what Volkov had told said so far. About his const=

ant

struggles with the local authorities and/or orthodox Muslims scowling at =

the

western people. Then the Russian continued, this time - about troubles wi=

th

crossing the Libyan border. After two or three minutes, Jonny couldn't be=

ar

it any more.

=84But what about Leptis? We'd love to learn something about the site its=

elf

and what you have found.=94, Jessie kicked him under the table, sending h=

im a

stern scowl.

Volkov laughed, =84Oh! I'm sorry! I shouldn't have bored you with that.=94

=84Oh, no, no! You haven't bored us a bit!=94, Jessie said in a bit *too*

convincing voice.=94

Hadji shook his head with an unnaturally serious expression on his face.

When Benton saw that, he slapped his forehead with his open hand and sigh=

ed

resigned. Jonny tittered. Volkov laughed again.  =84Well, about the site.=

..

I'll gladly show it to you right now and explain everything about it ther=

e.=94

Jessie's and Jonny's faces brightened. =84Cool!=94, Jonny exclaimed.

=84Very cool!=94, Jessie agreed.

=84If so, then we can leave right now.=94, the Russian proposed.

=84You don't need to tell'em twice.=94 was Race's response.
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Jonny has seen many deserts, but each time he saw one brought back to lif=

e

by an unexpected rain he was awed. Jessie pressed her nose against the QU=

V's

window next to him and admired the plants that appeared overnight. The da=

y

before, there was nothing but sand there. The ruins of Leptis Magna were

located only four from Homs, but that was more than enough to see how muc=

h

life actually cowered in the parched sand only to pop out as soon as brac=

ing

rain washes over the dunes. That was a miracle. Gray clouds still covered

the sky, but the world didn't seem as gray as in that restaurant. Tufts o=

f

flowers appeared along the road, adorning the perfectly flat, endless

wasteland. Jonny knew they probably wouldn't last till the next day, but

that only made the view even more unusual and admirable. Finally the lead=

ing

car, Volkov's Toyota Landcruiser, turned left into a dusty track leading

into a kind of oasis. The QUV turned too, Nasser's '79 Peugeot following

close. They stopped by two parked Land Rovers and a low building of some

sort. Benton noticed it was a tourist center - museum, restaurant and

souvenir shop. *But who's going to visit it?* In fact, it was closed and =

had

apparently been closed for years. They left the cars there and, led by

Volkov, followed a wide path leading towards the sea. The path was bendin=

g

through a narrow valley, flowered with pink briars. It was a lovely view.

The path became a bit steeper for a moment, and turned into a stone-paved

ancient tract.

=84Impressive!=94 Benton said suddenly.

Jonny glanced in the direction his father was looking. He saw a richly

ornamented arch of triumph. =84Arch of Septimus Severus.=94, he said.

=84Yeah, nice reconstruction.=94, Jessie added; =84I've seen photographs

comparing the original pieces with the copy. Someone did a very good job

reconstructing it as it was.

So I see. I guess that sculptured relief at the top shows emperor Septimu=

s

Severus' triumphal procession itself... looks nice.=94

=84That's right.=94, Volkov agreed. =84You can see the emperor himself in=

 his

chariot, between his two sons, Caracalla and Geta.=94 He pointed at a par=

t of

the relief.

Jonny focused on that spot. Indeed, there was a four-horse decorated

chariot, carrying three people. As they approached the arch, he noticed t=

hat

the emperor was a tall, wise-looking bearded man.

Meanwhile, Volkov proceeded with his lecture. =84Septimus Severus was the

founder of the Severan dynasty, his reign lasted from 193 to 211 AD Did y=

ou

know that he was actually born here, in Leptis?

=84No I didn't.=94, Jonny glanced at the relief once again. That was quit=

e

interesting. He smiled as he remembered how his father was trying to deve=

lop

his interest in history into something more than just adventuring around =

and

treasure-hunting. Four years ago he would have been just as glad to explo=

re

exotic places, ancient tombs... without paying too much attention to thei=

r

history. But still, enhanced interest in history did not in any way decre=

ase

his bent for adventures... Jessie was a fellow soul. They'd been raised

together like siblings, on travels all over the world. No wonder they bot=

h

got obsessed with traveling, exploring. After such upbringing they would =

get

bored to death if they lived like 'normal' teenagers.

But their upbringing caused a problem. They got so attached to each other=

,

they loved each other so much... Some would say it was a perfect start.

Maybe it was. But it had been hard for them and their parents to tell the

border between simple 'family' caring and true love. All the turning poin=

ts

in their relationship were so terribly painful... It took Francesca tryin=

g

to get Jonny for herself for them to realize how much they loved each oth=

er.

And it took Ruben Calderone trying to break them apart and seduce Jessie =

to

tell it out loud. Was that all necessary? He hoped not.  But at least all

those tragedies resulted in forging and strengthening their bond incredib=

ly.

They'd always been like family... and now they were meant to stay that wa=

y -

in a much deeper sense. Jonny just couldn't wait to make it happen. =84He=

y,

dreaming again?=94, a biff aimed at his right kidney broke his thoughts.

=84Uh, sorry Jess... Wow!=94

That was an awesome view. Behind a bend, the stone-paved track led straig=

ht

into a huge range of ruins. Remains of thick walls lined both side of the

track. The stones they were made of were rounded and crumbled with age. T=

hey

were made of sandstone in a nice shade of yellow. Some dry, brown-green

plants were covering the ruins. Some branchy palm trees could be seen.

=84This is the Cardo Maximus, the main street of Leptis.=94, the Russian

explained. He showed them all around the Greek-style theater, the famous

Hadrianic Baths, perfectly preserved along with ceilings and frescoes, th=

e

center of the Roman city with numerous temples and endless colonnades, th=

e

lighthouse point... the sea shore... everything at Leptis was beautiful.

******

Jonny groaned and lifted another stone. The rest of the team plus two of

Volkov's men, young archeology undergraduate Grigorii Vasiliev and his ol=

der

friend Ivan Totshka, were doing the same. Sweating profusely, he carried =

the

rock as gently as he could to the street. [Before they could start search=

ing

the ruins of one of the houses deep inside Leptis for any objects of

archeological value, they had to remove the remains of collapsed walls an=

d

ceiling. The stones were huge. With clouds gone, Jonny's clothes started

warming up rapidly, too dark for the climate. He put the stone down and

wiped the sweat from his forehead. He glanced at the rest of the team at

work.

  Jessie was wearing her 'trademark' outfit again - blue leggings and a k=

ind

of pink 'skort' dress. Well, one that used to be pink. Jess took some ext=

ra

care for her look lately... After a bit of alteration it was more like...

lilac? Or a kind of sky-blue? Something intermediate. The design remained

unchanged, but the color was hard to name. However, it was really neat. I=

t

wasn't too drastically altered, but it wasn't garish anymore. It was like=

...

stylish. And it did not collide with the color of her hair. The fabric co=

lor

still was light and it reflected most of sun's heat. Jonny sighed and hea=

ded

back for another stone. For some reason, thinking about Jessie=92s outfit

caused Jonny=92s mind to wander and, suddenly, he thought of something Je=

ssie

had told him about the way she looked in that outfit.  She had told him o=

nce

that Francesca made her feel she was plain, clumsy and unattractive.  He

still couldn=92t believe it . . . it was just plain stupid!  The dress ma=

tched

her shape perfectly, and with legs like those... well, tight leggings see=

med

to be just made for her. Jonny followed the slim girl with his eyes as sh=

e

continued counting and marking the crumbled blocks. Her delicate beauty a=

nd

slender frame belied how tough she was. Jessie was daddy's little girl, b=

ut

no spoiled brat. Smart and resourceful, strong and hard bitten, she could

cope with any situation. She had proved it many times... like in the

Himalayas, when she saved Jonny and Hadji from a cage dangling over an

abyss. She was an ideal girl. Jonny was about the happiest man alive when

she said she loved him in the hospital in Denver... Kissing started about=

 a

year earlier, but she could still make him blush all over with a single w=

arm

smile. Without any effort. She was definitely an ideal girl. Jonny put do=

wn

the stone, breathed deeply stretching his stiff muscles, and approached t=

he

girl.

=84How's it going?=94

Jessie sighed in answer. =84Slowly, but pretty well=94, she looked up at =

the

boy, =84Tired?=94

=84You bet I am...,=94 he took a look around and experienced a slight let=

down

noticing how much debris was left. =84We won't be done with those stupid

stones till tomorrow!=94, he exclaimed, =84And for what? For a mere house=

, not

even of a rich Roman landowner.=94

=84Well, it doesn't mean there can't be anything of interest here.=94, Je=

ssie

said stamping the ground under her.

=84But have you seen the map of Leptis?=94, Jonny was far from giving up;=

 =84How

much is still covered by dunes? Volkov is sitting on triflings already

excavated by previous expeditions. Do you know how much time the Korean t=

eam

was stuck here in mid-eighties?=94

=84Yeah,=94 Jessie looked around with a grimace. =84You know what bothers=

 me?=94

=84What?=94

Jessie stood up and approached a piece of collapsed ceiling. She kneeled

down, trailing her hand along the stone, dusting it off. =84This debris h=

as

just as much value as the stuff they want to find.=94

=84I know.=94 Jonny nodded, =84They said they numbered them all and noted=

 their

position, and...=94

=84Then what do you think *I* am doing?=94

Jonny looked at the girl questioningly. =84What are you trying to say? Th=

ey=92re

dolts. I noticed before, but we can=92t do anything about it, it=92s not =

our

site=94

=84Yeah,=94 Jessie sighed. =84This is just so stupid.=94 Jessie got back =

to her

work, describing the blocks. But when she was about to place a number on =

one

of them, she hesitated. =84Aw, damn it! They won=92t even care to read it=

=94. she

rose and turned to Jonny. =84I don=92t know what the heck are we doing he=

re=94

=84So what do you want to do?=94

Jonny noticed a slight change of Jessie=92s expression, as some thought

crossed her mind.

She looked up at him. Her expression told Jonny that she was absolutely

certain of what she was doing. =84Ask Volkov to allow us take a look at t=

hat

unexcavated terrain between the amphitheater and the rest of the

excavation.=94, she smiled at her own words, smelling an adventure. =84At=

 least

we can still have some fun wandering around the place=94.

=84No! I can not allow that!=94, the Russian's response was as sharp as t=

he

Russian army knife Race had under his car's seat.

=84B... but why?=94, Jessie stuttered in astonishment.=94

=84I simply cannot.=94 The denial in Volkov's voice was clear and emphati=

c

enough, but the explanation of *why* was not, =84We don't have enough men=

 and

means to look after an excavation on such an area.=94, he explained final=

ly.

Jessie noticed that Jonny's face, surprised at first, now had no expressi=

on

at all. Like a stone sculpture. Only his blue eyes narrowed, focusing on =

the

Russian archeologist.

=84We would not attempt any digging there.=94 He said calmly, =84We just =

wanted to

search the surface for any signs of...=94

=84Your work here is of greater importance.=94

=84But...,=94 Jessie tried to oppose but Jonny hushed her with a barely v=

isible

move of his hand.

=84It's okay Jess.=94, he whispered into her ear as soon as Volkov turned=

 his

attention to one of the Arab excavation assistants.

It was dusk when they stopped work for night. The excavation proceeded we=

ll,

but without too much success. However three silver coins and some broken

pottery still weren't bad for their first day on a site. The Quest clan, =

Dr.

Volkov and a couple of his colleagues were sitting around a fire. Arabian

nights were chilly in contrast to hot, dry days. The smell of roasted mut=

ton

titillated everybody's noses. Grigorii served everyone with aromatic dish=

es.

=84Here you are, Jessie,=94 he said as he gave the girl her portion with =

a

charming smile.

=84Oh, thank you. Smells great.=94 she answered.

Jonny followed the young Russian with a long, long cold look. Then he

glanced at Jessie. She rolled her eyes and shrugged, sending him a

goofy-looking lopsided smile. Jonny smiled back. He wasn't certain what

Grigorii had in mind, but Jessie definitely wouldn't fall for it. Never.

=84... and so, I suppose we'll leave for our hotel right after our meal a=

nd

come back tomorrow morning.=94 Benton finished a long sentence, the begin=

ning

of which Jonny had missed.

=84Oh, you're welcome to stay here for the night.=94 The Russian answered=

,

=84There are enough tents for everyone here.=94

=84No, no, no, . . . we won't abuse your hospitality. I still have some o=

ther

work of my own I need to finish. Besides, the city is just a couple of

minutes away.=94

Suddenly Jonny cut in: =84But we don't have any extra work.=94 He biffed =

Jessie

softly, =84We'd love to stay!=94

The girl joined immediately. =84Yeah, we'd love to stay!=94, she nodded

vigorously.

Volkov stared at them for a blink of an eye, confused. He hadn't expected

them to accept the offer, that was obvious. Benton and Race hadn't notice=

d

it, but Jonny did and he was sure Jessie and Hadji had also.

=84Well... I'm honored you decided to stay.=94, the Russian said.

=84Hadji?=94, Jonny asked his Hindu friend.

=84I don't know,=94 Hadji shrugged. =84I'll definitely be needed in Homs.=

=94

Jonny winced. He was counting on Hadji. But two out of three wasn't bad.

An hour later Jonny and Jessie unloaded their things from the QUV.

=84Are you sure you can stay away from trouble till tomorrow, Ponchita?=94=

,

Race asked mindfully.

=84Sssuuure! No problem!=94, was his daughter's answer.

=84Don't worry Race, I'll protect her.=94, Jonny offered.

=84I've heard this one before,=94 Bannon rolled his eyes. =84Okay, kid. J=

ust

*don't* leave the camp, comprende?=94

=84Sure thing!=94, Jonny assured in a very honest voice.=94

"Too honest.", Race sighed.

=84Okay, I guess this is it. See you tomorrow, Kid.=94, he shook Jonny's =

hand,

then turned towards Jessie.

=84Goodnight, Kiddo.

=84G'night, Dad!=94, she hugged to her father.

Soon the tail lights of the QUV disappeared into the darkness, leaving Jo=

nny

and Jessie alone on the dusty, unpaved square in front of the long-abando=

ned

tourist center. The single old lantern cast a wavering gray light.  Beyon=

d

it's faint circle there was nothing but darkness and the forgotten buildi=

ng.

Jonny couldn't tell what was more . . . thrilling - the darkness or the

ghostly building. As soon as the sound of QUV's motor faded away, thousan=

ds

of night insects began their concerto. A big moth encircled the lantern,

casting a huge, dark shadow on the young couple for a brief moment.

=84Well... What have we gotten ourselves into this time?=94

=84I don't know yet, Jess.=94

=84Great.=94
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Jonny and Jessie's eyes slowly adapted to the darkness as they headed

towards the sea, searching for the path they followed that morning. The

small valley was so much different then before... shrouded with darkness.

Instead of briar flowers, thousands of stars on the black sky above were

visible. The arch of Septimus Severus was an overwhelming huge black shad=

ow.

The ruins of Leptis Magna were impressive during the day, and even more s=

o

at night. Each stone seemed to tell stories about the past, the people wh=

o

lived here... Jonny felt like the souls of Leptis' people were watching t=

hem

from every corner of the crumbled ruins. Dark columns of stone pointing i=

nto

the gloomy sky seemed... incredible... as the whole huge labyrinth of wal=

ls,

colonnades, tracts... all dark and mysterious... with only insects for

inhabitants. Suddenly, Jonny and Jessie heard a distant song...

Rozkvietali iablony i gruszy,

Paplyli tumany na drekoi,

Wychadila na biereg katiusza,

Na wysoki biereg na radnoi!

Now they knew which way to go not to get lost. They dashed through the

labyrinth of ancient streets, closer and closer to the source of the soun=

d.

Wsie my znamy duszenku katiuszu,

Wsie my znamy kak ana pajot,

Kak z wraga wytaskiwaiet duszu,

A baicom adwagi dadajot!

Finally they saw the fire they were sitting at before, throwing a warm

orange-red glow onto the nearby ruins. The Russians and their local Arab

aides were already drunk. Seeing Arabs trying desperately to sing Russian

made Jonny laugh. Jessie rolled her eyes and groaned.

=84Oooh! Now you've really gotten us into heck of a mess.=94

Jonny scanned the whole camp carefully. Maybe they should have thought

before they acted, but this was a perfect opportunity to carry on Jonny's

plan. =84No turning back now. C'mon, Jess, we'll live through it.=94 He t=

ook her

hand in his and dragged her forward. They elbowed their way through the

laughing crowd toward Dr. Volkov, who was still relatively conscious.

=84Ahem...Doctor Volkov...=94

=84Aaah, good, you're back! I guess you're tired and want me to show you =

to

your tents?=94

=84Yes, please. If that won't be any trouble.=94, Jonny said politely.

=84No it won't. Come with me.=94

He put down a bottle of Smirnoff and got up from the broken column he was

sitting on. But before they had taken four steps, Grigorii suddenly emerg=

ed

from the partying crowd. He jumped toward Jessie, grabbed her hands and

pulled her back to the dancing crowd, charming grin on his face.

=84Whoa! Wait!=94, Jessie exclaimed in astonishment.

=84Don't be afraid Jessie!=94, he said in response, pulling her closer an=

d

attempting to dance.

She tried to push Grigorii away. =84Let me go!!=94

Jonny turned back quickly and glared at Vasiliev, rage boiling in him.

=84You,=94 he drawled through his teeth, but before he was finished with =

the

sentence Volkov's powerful arm pushed him aside as the man approached

Grigorii. Jonny saw him tax his young assistant with his eyes for a brief

moment... then grab him by his clothes and pull him close to his face.

Vasiliev suddenly realized what was going on.

=84What? What?=94

=84You are bringing shame to all of us!=94, the doctor spat.

=84You stay away from Miss Bannon, svolocz! These two fine young people

brought us honor by their visit, and this is how you express our

hospitality?!=94 The last words were simply yelled into Grigorii's face.

Vasiliev turned his face away from Volkov's breath, barely comprehending

what was wrong about what he had done.

=84You're drunk.=94 Volkov finally noticed. He raised his head and called=

 aloud:

=84Rebiata! Wake him! Give him water!=94

A group of people darted towards them from the throng partying around the

fire. Laughing and joking, they caught Grigorii and carried him away towa=

rds

the nearby seashore. All of them were obviously drunk... the doctor

included.

=84They are *nuts*!=94, Jessie exclaimed, =84All of them!=94

=84Sorry, Jess.=94, Jonny said hugging his girlfriend tighter. =94This wa=

s a

crazy idea.=94

=84No it wasn=92t,=94 she opposed. =84You had some reason to stay here, I=

 can tell

that!=94 She shrugged, =84Besides, it's better than laying around the hot=

el

anyway.=94

The boy smiled, =84Then we'd better find our tents, 'cause... damn!=94 He=

 said

glancing at the completely drunk mixed Russian - Arab throng.

Jonny glanced at his watch. It was after midnight, but party noise still

echoed around. He had never seen anything like this absolute lack of

restraint before. Jonny didn't even want to ask what the occasion of the

feast was. Most of the Russians and Arabs from Volkov's team were probabl=

y

out already. It was now or never. Jonny had considered their next move fo=

r a

long time.  Volkov definitely wasn=92t happy with their decision to stay =

here.

That was obvious. And what was so special about the range of dunes betwee=

n

the ancient amphitheater and the rest of the excavation, that caused the

Russian to react like that? Jonny simply couldn=92t rest until he found o=

ut.

He was sure Jessie noticed it, too. Now he had to get to her tent. But ho=

w?

He thought deeply. If Volkov really had something to hide, it was very

likely that he was having their tents watched. If Jonny was caught sneaki=

ng

to Jessie=92s tent, Volkov might become suspicious.  They definitely didn=

't

need *that*! Finally Jonny decided he would simply walk and not hide at a=

ll.

There was nothing... well, almost nothing *wrong* about him going to

Jessie's tent now... And he could easily check if someone really watched =

the

tents that way. He took a deep breath and exited his tent. The fire was

still burning, but was distant enough for the tent's surroundings to be

shrouded in darkness. He walked calmly towards Jessie's tent, looking aro=

und

secretly. He noticed someone about thirty meters away and, looking more

closely, recognized Ivan Totshka. The Russian seemed very busy searching

something between some rocks.

*Without a flashlight? Yeah, right!*

Jessie's tent was lit up from the inside.

=84Jess, may I?=94

=84Sure. Come on in!=94, she was lying on her belly, face towards the ent=

rance,

reading a book. "Dead Men Do Tell Tales" by Doctor William something. She

looked up from the book and asked; =84*Where* have you been? I thought we=

 were

supposed to check out those dunes.=94

=84You're reading my thoughts, Jess!=94, he smiled as he sat down next to=

 her.

=84Any news?=94

=84Totschka is watching the tents.=94

=84Oh great.=94, she groaned =84So Volkov really has something on his con=

science.

Her emerald eyes met his and her gaze sharpened. =84That's what you suspe=

cted,

isn't it?

=84Yeah,=94 he agreed. =84Now's our chance to take a look there.=94

=84But what do you expect to find? Especially at night?=94

Jonny shrugged. =84Dunno. And what do you expect to find?=94

Jessie=92s gaze fixed somewhere above Jonny's head, pondering that questi=

on.

=84No idea. But Volkov did not allow anyone even *go* there, let alone di=

g.

That means whatever it is, it's not hard to find.=94

Jonny's face brightened. =84So, what are we waiting for?=94

=84Hold it, Hotshot! What if we get ourselves into some serious trouble?=94

The boy rolled his eyes. =84Serious trouble? You're kidding! We may find

something of interest, 'cause there certainly *is* something left to

discover between the amphitheater and the rest of the city, but *trouble*=

?.

My thinking is Volkov doesn't want anyone searching the dunes for a new

excavation site 'cause he has a container of smuggled vodka hidden in the=

re

or something.=94

Jessie laughed. =84I wouldn't be surprised!=94

=84Well, what can possibly happen? Let's go! Oh, one more thing. We've go=

t to

make Totshka think we never left the tent.=94 Jessie looked at him

questioningly. =84Jess, still got that cassette player?=94, he asked.

=84Sure. The batteries are even fresh.=94, she took a portable cassette/C=

D

player out her bag.=94

=84Great! Now make it play some neat piece of music. Quiet, but loud enou=

gh

to disguise the fact that we're actually *not* in here.=94

=84Check!=94, she confirmed, putting in a CD with Anna Kafka's piano

compositions.

Soon, gentle sounds of the Sixth Piano Sonata in  C Major filled the tent.

=84Good! Now let's turn off the light, so they won't be able to see our

shadows moving out.=94 Jonny reached to turn off the gas lamp.

=84Jonny...,=94 she stated at him. =84Have you got any idea of *how* this=

 will

look? You know... Mood music and all that...=94

=84Yeah. I guess so,=94 he turned to face her, =84But at least they won't=

 suspect

we left the tent. Let 'em think whatever they want!=94 He shrugged with a

sweet, innocent expression on his face.

Jessie rolled her eyes. =84Oh great. My dad's gonna kill you if they tell

him.=94, she reached towards the gas lamp, glanced once at Jonny and turn=

ed

the tap. The flame in the lamp flashed and went off. Immediately, blackne=

ss

shrouded the whole tent. Only one small red diode on the CD-player was

glowing.

"Perfect!".

********

Two black silhouettes slipped silently out of the camp. As soon as they

cleared the last line of walls and entered the range of dunes, they split

up. Jessie went closer to the coastline, Jonny deeper into the land. The

sandy area was much greater than it seemed at first. There was no moon in

the sky that night, so they soon lost sight of each other, even though Jo=

nny

wore light jeans and Jessie didn't have time to change into something

darker. Jonny hoped they were similarly invisible for the people in the

camp. Jonny pressed a triangular red button on his watch and a compass wa=

s

projected. He covered it with his hand because otherwise someone might se=

e

it. He was one quarter way to the amphitheater. Jessie should be, too.

Actually, they didn't expect to find anything interesting, but Volkov's

little secret was so alluring...

Jessie quietly slid down another dune. She walked a couple of steps... an=

d

stopped suddenly. There was an ancient Roman structure emerging from the

sand. It looked like a mausoleum... As Jessie noticed, it was the only

excavated structure in this part of Leptis.  The rest was still covered b=

y

desert.

*But why?*. It was completely invisible from the distance, too low to be

noticed behind the dunes. She detached her walkie-talkie from her belt.

=84Jonny?=94, she whispered.

=84Yeah? What's up?=94 She barely heard his muffled voice.

=84I've found something. An old mausoleum, the only excavated structure

around. I'll keep searching further.=94

=84See? I told you we would find something. But I still have no idea what

Volkov wanted to hide. Nothing of interest on my side. See ya at the

amphitheater.=94

=84See ya!=94

Jessie attached the radio back to her belt and started walking again. She

approached the mausoleum and looked at it. There was nothing special abou=

t

it... but why was it excavated? She thought for a minute, then decided to

peek in there. It was cold inside. She reached back to her small backpack=

,

pulling out a mag-lite - kind of a small flashlight with a variable light=

ing

angle. She manipulated it a bit trying to make it work... she took a coup=

le

of steps forward... and suddenly the ground disappeared beneath her feet =

and

she fell into darkness.
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**********

Jonny stood under the amphitheater’s monumental wall, undecided. Jessie was

nowhere in sight. He glanced at his watch. Quarter to one. The longer they

were missing, the more probable it was that someone might notice it. Ten

minutes later he’d had enough of waiting. Something was wrong. Something was

definitely wrong. „Jessie?” Nothing. Her radio was off. *Why?*.

**********

Jessie got up painfully. Her head and left leg hurt. When she looked around

she realized she was in a long concrete corridor, brightly lit up by rows of

glow tubes. She took her walkie-talkie and quietly called to Jonny. Soon,

she realized the signal could not get through the bunker's walls. She sighed

and looked back. Behind her, there was a long, long row of stairs leading

back up to the outside. She swallowed hard when she imagined herself falling

from there. Jessie looked around her carefully.  Suddenly, the meaning of

what she was seeing finally penetrated her aching head, and she decided to

get out of there before someone found her. She started moving quietly back

to the stairs. Suddenly, she heard a sound. *Uh oh!* Heart pounding, she had

retreated about ten feet, when she noticed an iron door on her left. Voices.

Was that her shoes squeaking, her breath, or really voices? She kneeled down

by the door, listening. Probably, the people inside had just entered the

room by another entrance, so they wouldn’t have heard her fall. They were

discussing something lively. Jessie's eyes widened as she heard the surname

"Quest" in a stream of vague Russian speech. The door seemed sealed solid,

except for a small rusty aperture on the bottom. She considered something

for a brief second, taking a look around, then leaned down to the aperture.

„... I tell you, comrade, those two brats will definitely cause us trouble.”

Jessie's heart skipped a beat when she heard the other man's voice. She has

never seen the man personally, but she knew who he was. „Do not concern

yourself, Plotkin... The Quests are completely unaware. It is a mere

coincidence that they ran into us.”

The younger man did not give up. „But what if they discover something?”

Jessie could almost see the smile on the man's face as he said, „Nikolai,

Nikolai... This is a sealed country, loyal to our cause. If they do, they

will never get out of it alive...”

***********

Race leaned out of the suite's kitchen, trying really hard to hold a cup of

hot, aromatic black coffee in one hand and some documents in the other. „How

about some coffee, Benton?”

„No thanks, Race, I've had enough.” Dr. Quest laughed from behind a table

covered with various potsherds he was attempting to classify, „I'm afraid I

won't be able to sleep anyway!”

“Same goes for me.”  Race sighed and shook his head.  “I had no idea what I

was letting myself in for when I agreed to verify some files for I-1.  You’d

think I was working for them again.  They won’t leave me alone even when I’m

out in the field.”  He sighed again and shrugged his shoulders.  “Oh, well .

. .  I wonder how the kids are doing?”

„Can't stop, huh? Neither can I. But they are getting... What's wrong,

Race?”

The younger man's face was deathly white. His eyes fixed on a sheet of paper

he was holding in his hand. „FUR ON A CATFISH!!!”

„Having fun, Miss Bannon?” Jessie froze with fear. She slowly turned and

looked up at Doctor Volkov. „I didn't mean you any harm. I really didn't.”,

the man said calmly. „But you leave me no choice.”

Jessie finally managed to get her voice out of her. „What... what is going

on here?”

Volkov laughed. „Nosy, eh? You're just like your father. He used to be a

pain in the neck for us for long, long years during the cold war.”

Jessie stepped back. Volkov just confirmed her suspicions. He was definitely

going to seize her any second. She had to move first. She darted forward,

lightning fast, and hit Volkov with her shoulder. The man didn't expect such

an attack. Since he was still a bit drunk he lost his balance and fell

hardly on his back.

„Svolocz!!!” Jessie jumped over him and ran up the stairs. She pushed the

trapdoor open and jumped out of the ancient mausoleum into the desert. She

reached to her belt and grabbed her radio. Suddenly something heavy pushed

her down and pressed against the ground.

„JONNY!!!”, she screamed. Immediately someone hit her painfully on the

head.

„Shut up!” The girl recognized Vasiliev's voice.

She heard some other people around... including the man she had heard back

in the bunker. „Good work, Vasiliev,” he laughed ominously, „Miedviediev and

the rest, find the other one. If you can’t retrieve him alive, kill him.”

Jessie felt her heart squeeze painfully. She struggled, then moaned as she

was pressed harder against the ground. Meanwhile the man continued, „We've

got young Bannon, and that is more then enough. Vasiliev, take her away.”

„Where?”, Grigorii asked.

„To Jabbar's, along with the convoy. We'll have a use for her later.”, the

man's low, calm voice caused Jessie to shiver. She was so helpless...,but

she wasn’t concerned for herself now . . . her heart was with Jonny, out on

the dunes . . . alone . . . in the dark.  He would certainly be worried . .

. and in terrible danger.  Oh God . . . if she could only warn him somehow.

*********

Jonny was running breathlessly along the path Jessie would have taken to the

amphitheater. She said she had found an ancient mausoleum... Jonny decided

to find it. He felt his throat tightened with anxiety... *What happened,

what happened?*, he kept asking himself over and over. Suddenly, he slowed

down, listening. Rumbling. And a glow appearing behind the dune in front of

him. Brighter and brighter. He ducked down, hiding behind a dry desert bush.

With an ear-splitting roar and blinding headlights, a monstrous Ural

military truck pushed its way through the sand. Then another one and a UAZ

jeep. Typical vehicles used by the former Warsaw Pact. "What the...," Jonny

couched as the first truck passed by. That was simply too much. The whole

area suddenly woke up. He heard people shouting back in the camp. And the

trucks came from the direction Jessie should be. His earlier anxiety

blossomed into real fear. Not for himself - for Jessie.

As the mysterious convoy passed by, Jonny rose and climbed cautiously atop

the next dune. His eyes widened when he saw something that used to be a

mausoleum once. It was lit up brightly inside and outside. Groups of

soldiers were running here and there, casting long ghoulish shadows on the

sand.

Two dark silhouettes emerged from the bunker entrance. Jonny turned his

attention to them. Two officers in Russian uniforms. Or *really* Russian?

Not exactly. Soviet. One of them, the younger, was a Colonel. The other was

a General. Well built, bald, with dense black mustache... "Vostok and

Plotkin!". Jonny stiffed in astonishment. That was the last thing he

expected to see. He crouched behind the dune, trying to pick out some

understandable words from the soldiers' shouting. Vostok and Nikolai Plotkin

walked slowly, arms folded, more or less towards the dune Jonny was hiding

behind, observing the bustle and talking. When they were about ten meters

from the dune, they turned and started walking around the flat area

encircling the mausoleum. From this distance, they could observe their

soldiers and talk undisturbed at the same time. When they passed by Jonny,

he managed to hear part of their conversation. „... thus, we'll be able to

take advantage of the Quests' presence here.”

„So why kill the young Quest?”, Plotkin asked, „He'd be a better motivation

than the girl.”

Vostok sighed, „Too much risk. Bannon's daughter will do as well, and we

shouldn't take any chances. Killing the boy is the right solution.” the

General fixed his eyes somewhere far away „As for the girl, I have a score

to settle with Bannon...”

Jonny barely stifled a groan of almost physical pain. They got Jessie. He

forced himself not to move. Vostok had no interest in hurting her,

fortunately...at least for the moment. He seemed to plan on using her as a

hostage. *Why?*. He once tried to force Jonny's father into working on an

improved version of a nitrogen freeze-bomb. Perhaps he was planning on

something similar again. Vostok was a die-hard communist. He revolted

against Yeltsin's government and dragged half a regiment of Russian army

with him. Since then, he carried on terrorist actions all over the world,

with only one aim: the resurrection of communism.

„Haraszo...”, Plotkin considered something for a while. „I thought you said

that the Quests will never leave Libya alive if they discover the sub pen.”

Sub pen! So that was it! Vostok managed to hide his Akula class subs here in

Africa, probably in a huge cavern of some sort in the rugged coastline. And

he fooled the recon satellites by using an ancient mausoleum for disguising

the top entrance. That made sense... more or less. But where was Jessie?

Jonny moved along the dune, as quiet as a cat, trying to keep up with the

two officers.

„Yeeesss... And I will say it again. They won't. But before that, Doctor

Quest might be of some use to us.”, he laughed. „Do not concern yourself,

Nikolai! My plans are ambitious enough to include everyone.”

Plotkin stifled a wince. Vostok said the same thing not so long ago in

Kamtshatka. The Quests not only escaped them, but also contributed to their

capture. Their imprisonment hadn’t been long... They still had powerful

friends in high places in the Russian government who were prepared to help

arrange their rescue. „Do you think al-Jabbar will keep his word?”

„He has to. We may lose our shelter, but we'd blast him, along with his

oil, to Siberia and back. With his wealth, covering us is not much to ask.

Holding the girl is actually of benefit to him. He has one more servant. And

quite a pretty one, too.” His black mustache rose in a smile. „You know,

Nikolai... I'd never expect Bannon to procreate a sweet little thing like

her.”

Jonny felt his blood freezing. They gave her to some sheik providing them

with shelter... Oh God! She had just been captured, and Vostok spoke as if

she was already at the sheik's. Sudden understanding struck Jonny like

lightning. THE CONVOY! She must have been in one of those trucks. Since

there obviously was a squad or two around trying to hunt him down, he had to

do something fast. There was no time to try and reach Race or his Dad, and

because the people at the excavation site were part of the whole cover,

going back there was not an option.

*Damn!* Jonny cursed quietly. Most of their equipment remained in the

tents. There was no way he could contact Dad, or Race to warn them. He was

on his own. Again. Jonny breathed deeply, trying to calm his nerves. *Think,

Quest!*. The car park next to the abandoned tourist center was quite distant

from Leptis and the sub pen. There were still two old Land Rovers left there

for the night. That was the best move he could think of.

*****

„Are you sure, Race?”, Hadji asked with a puzzled expression on his face.

„Am I *sure*?” Race exploded, „This is definitely the guy, Volkov!”

Inspector Nasser looked closely at the picture in Race’s hand. „Hmm...

perhaps. A Red Army Captain? His past has nothing to do with what he's doing

now.”

Race felt his blood boiling. „You don't know it. But we've got a suspicion,

and that's a fact!”, he breathed deeply, trying to control his temper „And

my daughter is there!”

Nasser looked up at the white-haired man. „What kind of suspicion? Even if

he was a soviet officer, so what? Why would he have anything against you or

your daughter? He is an archeologist now and he's just doing his job.”

Race realized this was a tricky matter. Since Qaddafi's revolt, Libya has

always been the Soviet Union's close ally. After the fall of the Union it

still remained a 'socialist' country. What's more, completely sealed and

isolated. Qaddafi remained a powerful terrorist leader. The presence of a

former soviet officer in Libya was distressing for Race... but not

necessarily for Nasser. Telling the Arab about his CIA past was not

advisable... Benton and Hadji watched him in silence. They understood it, as

well.

„Alright. I'm sorry.” Race sighed, ”Sorry for alarming you, Inspector.”

„That's all right.”

Benton cut in, „Thank you for your time, Inspector. Race is just concerned

for his daughter's safety.  Please forgive him any offense.”

„Oh, I understand him perfectly!” He turned towards Race. „I assure you,

Mister Bannon, your daughter is safe there. I must admit, I don't know much

about Volkov, or Zaitsev as he's called here, but there is nothing wrong

about him working here.”

„Then why under a fake surname?”

„It says here that he had already been using this name before, for other

reasons.” The Arab shrugged, „Perhaps he thought his original surname was

spoiling his dignity.” He paused for a moment, thinking; „You may take your

children away soon . . . 8:00 a.m., let us say. But for Allah's sake, you

should get some rest now. It's quarter past six in the morning and the

people there are asleep, especially since they had some sort of a party

yesterday.”

„A party? Oh great!”, Race groaned.

„Please, Mister Bannon... It'll be the best for the children and your own

health that way.”, Nasser smiled. „I'm off to work now, but at eight I'll be

available to help. There is nothing to be alarmed about.”

Race sighed. „Okay. Sorry for bothering you.”

As soon as al-Nasser left the suite, Benton said, „Race... you're paranoid!”

„All government men are... Man, I'm getting too old for this, Benton.”

The bright pink-red disk of sun had emerged lazily from behind the horizon

some time go. The sky was perfectly clear as it usually was in North Africa,

colored in wide range of pinks and purples as if painted by that Venetian

painter Jonny had seen in Italy. The perfectly flat desert seemed even

pinker than the sky... but he was not in position to admire it. The old Land

Rover's engine groaned as Jonny eased up on the gas pedal to allow a flock

of dromedaries to cross the road slothfully or slowly. All the events of the

previous night still echoed in his head. Another sleepless night, the second

one this week caused his thoughts to blur... As the camels walked by, he

stopped the car and got out. Fresh, cool wind washed over his face and

winnowed his hair, bringing some alleviation from sleepiness. He gathered

his scattered thoughts, realizing how hopeless his situation was. He was

alone. The convoy was an hour ahead. He had no idea where it was heading, or

even if it was still on this road. He sat on the car's doorstep, head in his

hands. It was very likely that the Russians had already spotted the

disappearance of one of the jeeps. It was also likely that they were already

in pursuit. His head rose and he looked far, far away to the horizon and

sighed. He felt like his heart was torn out of his chest... Jessie was a

part of him. As he was of her. Sudden anger burned in him. What could he do?

He just *had* to save her... whatever it took. He rose and sat in the car

again, glancing yearningly at the point where the road was vanishing behind

the horizon. He had to move on.

------------------------------------------------------------------------
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*****

„Ow! Watch it, you freak!”, Jessie exclaimed angrily as an Arab soldier, or

rather a mercenary, pushed her into a big ornamented chamber pressing an

AK-47 to her back. Jessie and four men, two Arabs and two Russians, walked

past an aquamarine curtain further into the room. Jessie gazed at her

surroundings. It was bigger than she had originally thought. Arched

ceilings, columns, distinctive upside-down heart-shaped windows, expensive

carpets, and fancy furniture. As a child she had dreamed of being in a real

oriental palace, and now she was, but this wasn’t what she had had in mind.

They suddenly heard a voice without a source. „What now, Vasiliev?”

Jessie scanned the chamber with doubled attention. She finally noticed a

beak-nosed, bearded, middle-aged Arab lolling on a leather sofa. He wore a

turban and an expensive suit, and gazed at them with lazy arrogance.

„We brought the transport.”, Grigorii explained.

„I know, Lieutenant, but who is that?”

"Lieutenant!". Jessie winced. A soviet officer. She had suspected as much

when he captured her, but having it confirmed made her even more furious.

She clenched her teeth and scowled furtively at the young Russian. No more

charming archeology student. Jessie was biased against him back in the camp

already... he reminded her too much of Ruben Calderone, the man who deceived

her by making her believe that Jonny left her and then tried to take

advantage of it! She bit her lip, tears filling her eyes at  that memory.

She forced herself not to cry. She hated Grigorii enough already, but the

fact that he was also an officer of the twisted system her father fought all

his life was more than she could take.

„The General's captive, Jessica Bannon.” The Lieutenant said, „He asks you

to keep her here for...”

Omar al-Jabbar hushed the Russian by rising his hand. Vasiliev clenched his

teeth, but said nothing. Jabbar was acting predominant... as if they were

his subjects. THEY were the Red Army!  Once, they had ruled most of this

continent and no one had dared to oppose them.  Today, even at a shadow of

their former greatness, they could crush this arrogant Arab and his pitiful

terrorist army of mercenaries with little or no effort.  It infuriated him

that they had to be dependent on him for anything at all...particularly

their shelter.

Jabbar looked at the girl. He smiled when he saw her deadly cold glare

locked on Vasiliev. „Jessica Bannon...Come closer, child.”, the sheik said

gently. It took a while for her to realize he was talking to her. She turned

towards him with a stony expression, not allowing herself to express any

fear. One of the mercenaries wanted to push her again with the barrel of his

gun, but Jabbar stopped him with another lazy move of his hand. Jessie

looked back at the man proudly and stepped forward. She shivered when Jabbar

scanned her thoroughly with his eyes.  „Bannon is your name. The General

mentioned something about someone called Race Bannon. Are you his daughter?”

Jabbar could easily obtain all the data from Vasiliev, but he seemed to be

enjoying getting it himself. *To show how important he is... durak.*,- the

Russian thought with a slight wince.

„Yeah,” Jessie said flippantly, „And who are you supposed to be?”

To Vasiliev's astonishment the Arab, instead of falling into his typical

anger, just laughed heartily, „Little lady, you have a fiery temperament!”

He looked at her again, amused, „I am looking forward to having a chat with

you later, Miss Bannon.”

Jessie stared at him for a long moment, unmoving.  Then, to Vasiliev’s

uneasy surprise, Jessie sketched a slight bow to the Arab and replied, “I

shall look forward to it.”  As Vasiliev led her from the chamber, Jessie

smiled secretly to herself.  She was fairly certain she had just found the

Russians’ weak point.  And maybe that could be used to her advantage.

*****

„Buzz off or I'll call the police!”

„*I* am the police!”, Inspector Nasser shouted back. Race got out of the

QUV and stood right next to Nasser's car's door, stone-cold expression on

his face, watching the audacious man who was blocking their way out of the

hotel car park. His thirty-year old pickup had a flat tire and great part of

his cargo of watermelons was rolling here and there on the asphalt. The

accident caused a small traffic jam. One of Benton's friends said once that

the most important part of an average African car was the horn. He was

right.

„QUIET!!!”, al-Nasser yelled over the car-horn concerto, and sounded his

own horn firmly.

"Oh Jesus.", Race thought rolling his eyes. He leaned down to the

Inspector's car window and said simply, „C'mon, Inspector. I have a better

idea.” Race headed back to the QUV and climbed onto the driver's seat.

„What do you want to do, Race?”, Benton asked puzzled.

„Something desperate.”, Bannon answered switching to four wheel drive.

Before anyone could oppose him, he turned the car left and drove right

through the lawn, zigzagging through the palm trees growing there.

„Is this normal around here?”, Hadji exclaimed, his head striking the roof

of the vehicle as he was tossed in his seat.

„No.” The Quest Utility Vehicle jumped out to the street in a cloud of

dust. Nasser's Peugeot copied the maneuver. A group of Arab children playing

on the sidewalk applauded, finally having some fun.

„Race, we must have a talk.” Benton stated, placing his hand on his

friend's shoulder, „I know you are worried but...

„Look in the mirror.”, Race suggested breaking Quest's sentence

unceremoniously. Benton did as he asked. Behind them, there was the

Inspector's car and... one of Doctor Volkov's Land Rovers, keeping some

distance.

„Oh, this is paranoia.”, He groaned, shaking his head.

Hadji turned his head and looked through the back window. „Ooh... this is

not good.”

Finally Race's and Hadji's discomfort infected Doctor Quest too. He looked

in the window again, puzzled. That was really strange. „What do you make of

it, Race?”

„Don't know yet... But since Volkov was a soviet Captain...,” he drove onto

the road leading to Zliten and the Leptis Magna excavation site. The traffic

wasn't as dense here, so they could see the following car clearly.

„Don't let him know we're watching him...,” Race instructed.

A while later the Land Rover turned into a minor street back to the town

center. Benton sighed and opened his mouth to tell Race he concerned himself

needlessly, but the younger man forestalled him. „First he follows us out of

town, then turns back...,” he looked at Doctor Quest meaningfully, „We're in

trouble.”

**********

„Have you seen three military trucks passing by?”, Jonny asked cursing

himself for not learning Arabic when he had a chance. The herder shrugged

with an international "I can't understand a word" expression on his face.

That's what Jonny was afraid of.  „Three cars... talata sayara!”, he finally

puffed out.

The Arab shook his head, „La, la...” That meant "no".

„Damn!”, Jonny exclaimed and hit the jeep's hood, but he did not give up.

„Al-Jabbar? Where does Al-Jabbar live?”

The Arab scratched his head and looked around. „Hena!” he smiled and pointed

a well cared-for side road with rows of palm trees on both sides.

„Thanks! Erm... shukraam!”, Jonny got so excited that he forgot at first

that the herder did not speak English.

„Masalama, Effendi!”, the Arab smiled and headed back to his goats.

„Masalama to you too, pal.”, Jonny looked at the road. That had to be it.

It seemed to be someone's private drive. Despite of being quite distant from

the sea, the village Jonny stopped in was quite green. Lots of palm trees

and some cornfields around. Jonny hesitated. What if they knew he was

coming? They definitely had radios and it was probable that they already

knew about the disappearance of one of the jeeps. On the other hand, they

had no reason to believe that he knew Jessie was in their convoy. Either

way, he had to hide the car somewhere and try to find Jess somehow. He

sighed when he realized he'd most probably have to wait until nightfall.

Suddenly, he slapped his forehead with his open hand.

He walked down into a bar of some sort, arranged in a cellar, desperately

trying not to seem hurried. The light was dim and an overwhelming array of

smells almost knocked him down. He winced, feeling dozens of pairs of eyes

watching him. Smoke and the smell of burned meat were filling the room.

There were some other Euro-Americans there too... Traders? Smugglers? He

didn't care.  At least someone around spoke English. He scanned the room and

finally noticed an old telephone on a wall. That's what he was looking for.

He approached it, threw a couple of dinars to the barman, and lifted the

receiver. He dialed their hotel's phone number. Beep. Another one... and

another...

*Come on, come on!*, he whispered impatiently.

Finally the receptionist answered his call. „Room 35, please.”, Jonny stated

off-hand.

„I am sorry, but Mister Quest and Mister Bannon left their rooms this

morning.”

Jonny's eyes widened, „Whoa, wait! They've... *already* left?”

„That's right.”, the receptionist said matter-of-factly.”

Jonny said nothing for a while. „Thank you...,” he hung up, gathering his

thoughts. They were supposed to get to Leptis at 11 AM. Why had they left so

soon? What happened? What made them change their plans? Jonny swallowed

hard... were they captured already? Somehow he could not believe Race

allowed that... but either way, the Quest team had gotten separated. This

shouldn't have happened. Jonny sank down weakly on a nearby bank. None of

the people around even looked at him. He was completely alone...

„You shouldn't have been so unpleasant to me, Jessie.”

„Miss Bannon to you, "tavariszcz!”

Grigorii didn't seem to notice her malicious remark. „Was all that

necessary? It would have never come to what has happened last night.

Jessie clenched her teeth. Why couldn't he just leave her alone? „... I'm

the only person who still can help you out. I regret all that has

happened... You know, maybe our ideology is too different to understand each

other... Pity.” He sighed, „but I still don't want any harm to come to you.

I think the General was a bit too cruel.”

*Jesus!* Jessie thought. He may really think Vostok overdid it and his

conscience is bothering  him. Or... is he back to that wooing business

again? Wow, he’s even more stupid than she originally thought!

„I *don't* need anyone's care... *Lieutenant*.”, the girl snarled.

Vasiliev said nothing for a long while. „I just wanted to help,” he

explained in a sad voice, shrugging. The walk through the palace's long

corridor seemed endless. Definitely not the way Jessie liked to go

sightseeing. „Well, this is it.” Grigorii announced and stopped her at one

of the doors. After he opened it, he untied Jessie's arms and pushed her

inside, „Remember I tried to help you.

„Yeah right,” she snarled, but he couldn't hear her. The door was already

shut. Jessie looked around the room she found herself in. It was dark, but

it didn't seem like a prison... Except for the bars in the only window.

Nevertheless, the room had rich oriental ornamentation. Curtains, potted

scrubby palm trees... complete furniture, and... another resident, sitting

there sadly.

„Oh...hi.”, Jessie said to the young woman watching her anxiously. She

noticed the girl was an Euro-American like her.

„Hi... They... they caught you too? Who are you?”

Jessie approached the other girl, about Jessie's age or a bit younger. „My

name is Jessie Bannon.”

„And I'm Caroline Clifford.”, the girl said, rising. They shook their

hands... Jessie saw something in the other girl's eyes. Pain, fear... and

joy of her company... mixed with compassion for her. But who exactly was

she? What was she doing in captivity? The girl was so sad.

„How did you end up in here?”, Jessica finally asked.

Caroline sighed. „It's a long story... sit down, Jessie...”, Jessie felt sad

tones in the girl's voice more and more clearly. She realized the girl

barely kept herself from exploding with tears. *Why?*

"Well, so much for our suspicions.", Hadji commented.

The trip to Leptis was completely uneventful. The QUV was rolling calmly on

the Homs-Zliten road. It was morning, so it wasn't too hot... It was just a

plain normal trip. But despite what he just said, Hadji was still uneasy. It

was pretty clear Race was too. Benton was hesitant and it was hard to tell

what he was actually thinking. What he knew for sure was that Race

definitely would blow up or something if he didn't get to Leptis soon.

„Hey... what is that?” Hadji asked leaning forward from his seat in the back

of the car. He pointed at the LCD display panel in the car's dashboard.

Benton looked at it too. In the bright light it seemed like a plain, gray

surface... but the quiet hum in the loudspeaker, which was appearing in

short uneven intervals shouldn't be there.

„Oh my God,” Race groaned. He stopped the car.

Doctor Quest and Hadji did not ask any questions. „Shade the screen, shade

the screen!”, Roger instructed. When they did that, they noticed some

flashes... barely visible stripes and smudges floating on the screen.

„Someone's trying to contact us!”, Hadji exclaimed.

Race leaned closer to the screen. Benton couldn't tell what the younger man

felt then, except that it was really strong. „This receiver is set on our

special frequency!”, Race's voice was changed, „This is has gotta be Jessie

or Jonny! This is has gotta be them!”

Hadji was completely muddled. „How? Why?”

„Watches!” Benton exclaimed, „Multifunction watches!”

„Those were meant to be more toys than utility equipment.”, Hadji noted.

„Their effective range is limited to several hundred meters in urban areas,

a mile or two in country.”

„That's why we can't get anything! Fraggin' hell, this has to be them!

Something has happened!” The fear in Race's voice was evident.

Benton tried to remain calm; although the situation alarmed him as much as

it did Race.  „We're not that far from Leptis... this signal... if it is a

signal, seems to be coming from more than dozen miles away! The area is

perfectly flat so we could get a faint echo.” Race straightened up, gazing

at Benton.

„But,” and then he understood. „Jesus Christ! Where are they then?!”

Hadji shrugged. „I wouldn't be surprised to learn they are in Peru.” He

turned his face towards his adopted father, „Can we amplify the signal

somehow?”

Doctor Quest considered something for a second. "I believe...," he

hesitated, thinking hard. Then he exclaimed, "I believe so!". He jumped from

the car and hurried toward the back of the vehicle, leaving a surprised

Hadji and Race still inside.  "Help me set the antenna!", he called to them

from outside.

They jumped out too. Benton stood on the doorstep so he could easily reach

to the QUV's roof. He raised a powerful, five foot long antenna on the car.

„Doc...,” Race started, confused „... Benton... this is just a one-way

transmitter sending our location to any other Quest Enterprises vehicles

around. And we're solo around here. That's why it's not even up.”

„Not necessarily so,” Benton gasped, forcing the antenna up, „...It has a

strong amplifier! Many pieces of equipment can...have many more applications

than...intended!”

Race gave him a helping hand. Since he was much taller, he could easily set

the antenna up and expand it.

„Thanks, Race.”, the Doctor swept the sweat from his forehead. „Hadji,

reconnect the wiring somehow...We have to reverse it...turn it into a

receiver!”

„And fast, while they're still broadcasting!”, Race added.

Hadji rushed to his assignment. That might just work. At least to get that

transmission. Hadji knew they wouldn't even be able to let Jonny and Jessie

know they heard them. What had happened? *Something bad... that was

obvious!*„ Somehow he just couldn't get rid of this thought. He bit his lip,

focusing on what he had to do, redirecting the wires leading from the

antenna and its amplifier to the receiver in the dashboard. Basically, this

would replace the receiver's antenna with the more powerful one they had

just set up. *Keep calling, my friends... keep calling!*, he thought, wires

tangling in his hands. Jessie Bannon would certainly know what to do with

those cords. But she wasn't there. Then, when the Hindu boy twisted two

wires together, the loudspeaker revived with some humming.

Race and Benton jumped towards the screen and speaker. It went dead again.

Hadji reconnected another wire. „...hear me?..”, a loud unpleasant hum,

„...do not go to Lep...”, humming again, „you... in terri... dange...”

„That's Jonny!” Doctor Quest exclaimed.

Race and Hadji were listening to the pieces of the transmission closely. No

video, and the sound was pretty weak. „...Jessie has been... apped! We... in

Miz... Help us!...” Race felt his blood freezing. What happened to Jessie?

„...stok's men...” loud static drowned out Jonny's voice briefly

„...al-Jab... essie!... please!” then the receiver went silent...for good.
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***********

Jonny released the radio transmitter button on his watch. This was

hopeless. No one could hear him. He kicked the nearby wall and sat down hard

in the dust in the small, hidden corner of shade he had found.

Bowing his head, he rested it in his hands. What could he do? Race, Hadji

and his father were somewhere out there... in danger... and completely

unaware. Unaware of last night's events, and most of all, of their own

dangerous situation. An emaciated, homeless dog wandered around. Jonny

watched him sniff around in the corners, looking for food. The animal didn't

seem to be afraid of Jonny. It stopped in front of him and sat down, cocking

it's head to one side and looking at Jonny with big, sad eyes.  Jonny smiled

painfully.

*Yeah... look closely. You may be looking at a rare example of a jerk...*,

Jonny sighed. Why?  Why did he insist on staying in that camp? He felt tears

gathering in his eyes. Jonny lowered his head into his hands again. *Oh,

Jessie...*, he kept repeating in his thoughts, while images of all the harm

that might happen to her at the sheik's, in an unfriendly, half-wild country

passed through his mind. And there was no one who knew what happened to her,

except him. The boy clenched his teeth at that thought, pain and grief

reflected in his face. Alone. How could he save her?

„And after you came here? What happened then?”, Jessie asked.

The expression on Caroline's face reflected great pain as well as a deep

sorrow...marks driven in deeply during her three long weeks in bondage.

„Easy...”, Jessie said, placing her hand on the other girl's shoulder.

Caroline closed her eyes, forcing herself not to cry. She took a deep

breath, then continued on with her story:

„My mother carried on her research on Sirte and the rest of that ancient

stuff... despite what they said. But then...”, she stopped for a while,

„They attacked us several days later... when we were on our way to the site

again.” She sighed painfully, „Sorry I'm like that... you want to hear the

point, don't you?.. They..." she started sobbing, „They were all killed!”,

she cried out, "My mom, the excavation team..."

Jessie swallowed hard. „And... what about Dave?...”

Caroline burst into tears. „They... shot...him!... Oh God!... Just like

that... oh God!”, she sobbed.

So she lost her family here... and the person she loved was killed in front

of her. Compassion for this poor girl gripped Jessie. She gently hugged the

other girl, letting her face rest on her shoulder as she cried. „I'm so

sorry...”

„So what do you make of it?”, Benton asked his friend, concern obvious in

his voice.

Race sighed, „Let's analyze everything Jonny said... Word by word.”  Hadji,

re-run the recording.” Jonny's desperate calling and loud radio interference

’s filled the QUV again. Race's eyes widened when he assembled the pieces

together... realizing what Jonny tried to tell them.  „My God...”, he

moaned, "Jessie has been kidnapped".

Hadji stared at the communicator, his expression stiff, and he was obviously

more and more upset by the whole situation. What had happened to his

friends? „Race... what do you think?”, he asked.

„Jessie has been kidnapped.”

Benton let the air out of his lungs soundly, saying nothing. He figured out

exactly the same thing from Jonny's transmission, but Race's confirmation

was still painful. Jonny obviously went after her and could get killed. And

them?

„And we are in danger. He doesn't want us to go to Leptis!”, Hadji said.

Benton and Race didn't answer. That, too, was obvious.  After a couple of

seconds of uncomfortable silence, Race demanded: „Get into the car.”

„Race, we have to figure out what...”, Benton opposed.

"Now!"  The intonation of the younger man's voice told them *not* to ask any

questions.  Benton and Hadji got into the QUV after him.  Race  immediately

started the engine and drove off of the road.

Hadji leaned forward from the back seat and asked, "Where are you going,

Race?"  He looked out through the windshield. “A wadi?” That appeared to be

exactly where they were going. The wadi was a narrow valley...or rather a

long, long canyon...that served as the trough of a temporary river. "This is

dangerous," Hadji said nervously. "Wadis may make good road, but many people

have died when the wadi flooded suddenly. There's no escape if..."

„Ssshhh!...”, Race raised a finger, signaling the young Hindu to be quiet

and listen. All three of them froze. Just the sound of wind-blown sand

tapping the car... Hadji realized Race could hear more. He certainly knew

what he should hear... and could tell that sound from the others earlier.

Benton was gazing up at the towering canyon walls that rose above the car.

Hadji closed his eyes, concentrating only on sounds. Anything unnatural. His

heart beating... wind... sand... squeaking car seat... and...

„Shit.” Race whispered.

As they watched, a black silhouette rose above the canyon wall with a bass

whirring sound that froze the blood.  A helicopter.  Time seemed to slow as

Hadji stared at the deadly machine.  The slick hull, pylon-wings, and deadly

cargo of air-to-air and air-to-ground missiles combine with the slow beating

of the five rotor blades to give the machine an almost incredible sense of

beauty.  It moved and darted with deadly grace, seeming almost majestic as

it hovered in the air above them.  As it passed over their heads slowly, the

front-mounted Gatling gun turning left and right following the gunner's line

of view, Jonny's message was finally clear to all of them.  Jessie had been

kidnapped.  Jonny was alone in enemy territory trying desperately to get her

back.  And they were being hunted.

**********

Guards.  Everywhere he looked, there were guards.  Two at the main gate. At

least seven more patrolled the area along the wall. God knew how many there

were inside. Jonny scanned the palace again and cursed. This  was insane.

The sheik's palace was a broad, elegant, three-story building located in the

suburbs of Mizda.  A high wall surrounded a huge courtyard and the

buildings.  And there were guards...*lots* of guards.

*Damn it*.

He could use the cornfield next to the wall for cover...but then what?

Behind that wall, he would [be seen on the courtyard] stand out in the open

courtyard like a pork chop in a saucepan. There had to be another way in.

Jonny bit his lip and leaned against the window frame in the deserted house

he used as an observation spot. The deserted building in Mizda made a

perfect observation spot. But without any significant success so far. He

sighed, trying to relax. Maybe then he would think of something. The sun was

lowering to the west... shadows were long. The evening was coming. The sun

was sinking in the west and the evening was coming quickly.  Soon it would

be dark and he needed to have some kind of plan before dark.   He had been

snooping around the palace for many hours, but he still hadn't found a weak

point he could exploit. He sighed... rumble of peddlers was still loud as

usual. A couple of cars passed... and another military truck... *A military

truck?!*, Jonny rallied immediately, when an idea struck him. Crazy, but the

only one he could think of. He had to move fast.

************

„OK, you two get that end, Alcott and I will take this one”, Estella

ordered, „The rest of you support the middle if necessary. Most of Estella's

excavation team was crowded in the ruins of a medium-sized hut in the jungle

not far from the central pyramid. The huts were discovered years ago, soon

after the pyramids. After a long, slow and painstaking search for objects of

everyday use and any other artifacts, this discovery was a shock. At first

sight it seemed like a normal Mayan or Malenque hut... walls made of

perfectly fitted stones... evidence of sloped roof, gone centuries ago...

everything normal. Except for the floor, which was found to have an empty

space underneath a big, carved slab. Estella was very excited. What was the

compartment used for? As a tomb? In a hut like this? This was something

unusual. Her most exciting find since the discovery of the Malenque mummies.

Alcott carefully placed the end of a small crowbar in the aperture between

the slab and the rest of the floor, wrapping it with a soft cloth first.

Breaking that slab was the last thing they wanted. „Now, carefully lift

it... Biggs, support that side...”

Suddenly, another person ran into the ruin, waving a satellite phone.

"Senora! Senora, teléfono!”

„Oh God, what now?!”, she groaned and grabbed the phone. Why now?

„Velasquez!”, she identified herself angrily, „Oh, it's you...”, she

listened for a moment, then turned pale, her eyes widened in fear, „WHAT?!”

The people from the excavation team looked at her questioningly. Pain and

fear showed in the woman's face and they all knew that something bad must

have happened. „No...”, she whispered.

Meanwhile, on the other side of the planet, Race Bannon was no less

agitated. „Listen to me, Estella, panic won't help!”, he said desperately

trying to keep his calm, „You've got to get Travis! We're stuck here... he

knows this country better than I know my own pocket.  I need him!”

Estella finally stuttered, „But... but what exactly happened? Race, tell

me!”

Bannon sighed. „I don't know exactly... To be honest, I don't know a thing!

Jessie's kidnapped, Jonny's gone, and we're being hunted. Hell, this is a

hostile country! We can't do much to find the kids... we can't even inform

the authorities because we don't know who we can trust.”, he took a breath

then continued, „I'm pretty sure we're up against a group of former soviet

officers. And they've got a lot to lose.

Estella swallowed hard, not knowing how to answer. Her family was in deadly

danger. And she was on the far side of the planet, unable to help. Not

knowing how to help. Thousands of different thoughts raced through her mind.

„Estella?”, Race asked.

„Yes... yes, I'm here.”

„Can you do it?”

The woman breathed deeply. „Yes. I'll get Travis... what else?”

„Just get him . . . FAST.” He hung up.

„Race, wait!” Estella stood there for a moment, still holding the satellite

phone pressed to her ear... Her daughter kidnapped...Race and the Quest

family were out there too... on their own, in a distant, hostile country.

She shivered, realizing just how deadly their situation was.  She whispered

a heartfelt prayer as she began dialing the phone with a shaking hand.  She

heard it ring briefly and then a non-descript voice greeted her.  "This is

Estella Velasquez . . . authorization code Bannon742.  Get me Travis . . .

NOW."

Just ten more feet... Jonny quickly jumped out from a dark corner, and ran

after the truck. *This is a very bad idea...* He jumped forward, caught the

truck's tailgate and quickly lifted himself inside, hiding under the canvas.

He caught his breath... The first part of his plan was done. The truck would

get him past the gate... but what then? He moved towards the front of the

truck and looked through a slit in the canvas. They were approaching the

palace. Jonny noticed a guard walking out from behind the gate, raising his

hand to stop the truck. He retreated from the slit and hid himself among the

cargo of wooden and metal crates, hoping they wouldn't check the transport.

They didn't. The boy let out a sigh of relief as the truck moved on. So he

was inside... Now what? He looked through the slit again... the truck turned

left and headed for a small barrack or a warehouse that was hidden in dense

bushes a short distance from the palace itself. Maybe there he'd be able to

get off... Jonny focused on the bushes... all of his muscles strained. Now

or never. He felt every stone and rut the truck's wheels crossed as he

crouched at the tailgate of the truck, poised to jump.  He had to do this

right the first time...he couldn't afford a mistake.

He held his breath watching the bushes move closer every second. Ten

meters... five...two...now! Before he could think twice, he landed in the

bushes. Hopefully, he was too quick to be seen, and the truck was too loud

for him to be heard.  He crouched in the bushes, waiting to see if anyone

raised an alarm.  Nothing.  Jonny released his breath in a soft sigh. So

far, so good. But what next?

**********

„Are you done, Benton?”, Race asked, looking around. Their hotel was no

longer safe. It was the first place their adversaries, whoever they were,

would come looking for them.

„Yes.”, the older man said and got into the car, „Where are we going?”

Roger sighed, „I don't know. We're not safe anywhere... we're alone in a

sealed hostile country. Going to the airport in Tripoli is out of question.

The safest thing is probably to lurk outside the bigger cities until Travis

arrives, but if we do that, the kids will have as much trouble finding us as

the Russians will.”

Hadji stared at Race. „Why would they do it? They have no reason...

unless...”, he paused, an unpleasant idea suddenly occurring to him. Race

just looked back at him meaningfully.

„Vostok...”, Hadji sighed and fell back into the back seat, shaking his

head.

Benton and Race stayed silent. The answer was the obvious one... but still

hard to believe. Maybe this was another former soviet officer who haven't

noticed the Cold War was over, or simply wanted communism back much as

Vostok did... but something whispered in their minds that this was Vostok.

It had to be.

Race started the engine and the QUV rolled a couple of meters, when

Inspector al-Nasser appeared in front of them, waving his hands frantically.

Race groaned and stopped the car, resting his hand on his gun on the shelf

under the dashboard. Was al-Nasser one of them? After he escorted them to

the city boundary a great deal had happened. „Oh there you are! Mister

Bannon, Doctor Quest, are you leaving? What happened?”, the man looked

surprised.

Benton looked at Race questioningly. How were they going to explain

themselves?
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**********

 „Don't worry, we'll be fine.”, Jessie assured the other girl. Caroline just

looked at her and a faint, sad smile formed on her face.

That instant, the door opened and Vasiliev entered. „The sheik wishes to see

you.”, he announced looking at Jessie.

Jessie snorted. „Hmph! But did he ask if I wish to see him?”, she said

flippantly.

Caroline warned her in quiet, but concerned whisper, „Don't do it!” Jessie's

attitude seemed like playing with fire.

Grigorii just sighed. „I wouldn't do it if I were you. Take that as a

friendly advice.”, he explained.

 „Yeah right.”, Jessie stood up and turned to Caroline, „I'll be right back.

Before the other girl could answer, she was gone. When she passed the door

Vasiliev took her gently by her arm and guided down the corridor.

 „Hey, I can walk myself!”, striking him in the ribs with her elbow.

The Russian released her abruptly and rubbed his ribs gingerly. He looked at

Jessie, his expression hurt. „I'm trying to help you! Why did you do it?”

 „I don't need anyone's help.”, the girl stated firmly.

 „Hospodin, pamilui sie!”, Vasiliev moaned to himself in his own language,

rolling his eyes. Soon they entered a lavishly appointed, medium-sized room.

Jessie looked around, her suspicions fully aroused. She didn't know what

this room was, but it definitely wasn't one of the sheik's. It was

pleasantly appointed, with a plush sofa, two side chairs and a TV in one

corner.  And at one end of the room, she could just see a large bed that was

partially screen by a rich drape.  A guest room of some sort, probably.

 „The sheik never said he wanted to see me, did he?”, Jessie asked.

 „He didn't!”, Grigorii admitted, „I just want to help you. You're a really

nice young lady... what the General did is not right.” Jessie listened with

reserve as Vasiliev explained „This won't do our cause any good. I'm really

sorry for that and I want to help you. I can do it!” The man moved closer

and tried to place his hand on her shoulder to reassure her. As he did so,

the strong odor of alcohol reached her clearly. Grigorii was drunk...again.

And there was one thing Jessie knew for sure. When he was in this state,

helping her was not what he was interested in. She watched him carefully as

he crossed the room and shut the door. His hands and forehead were sweating.

Because he was afraid of being caught 'helping' her? Or maybe there was

another reason? Jessie didn't like it at all.

**********

Jonny crouched in a dark corner as a soldier passed by. That was too close.

Darkness had fallen, but there were powerful lanterns all around the palace

which caused the grounds to be as bright as day. Jonny crawled to the

building using any cover he could find in the garden. The closer he got, the

greater danger he put himself in, but he couldn't stay where he was... and

he couldn't turn back. He had come this far, so all that was left was to get

inside. But how? He scanned the building... the windows were high. The front

entrance was out of question. He looked around. The situation seemed

hopeless, but it has seemed hopeless before and yet he had gotten this far.

After all, he had found the place, hadn't he?

He carefully looked around again. No one in sight... the perfect

opportunity. But how to get inside? He leaped out of the bushes and sprinted

for the palace, determined to bet everything on one card, aware there was

nothing else he could do.

**********

Al-Nasser's expression was a blend of astonishment, concern and disbelief.

„Are you absolutely positive, Mister Bannon?”

 „No doubt.”

Nasser turned his head towards Benton sitting at the other side of the

table, who just nodded. The Arab sighed deeply and swept the sweat from his

forehead. Libya had never been safe for westerners... but this was too much.

Thankfully Nasser turned out to be a man with a conscience who understood

what was going on. And most of all, he wasn't the Quests' enemy. The Arab

took a breath, and finally spoke, „If you are right... this... this may

cause a war. I know our country has a lot on its conscience, but whoever is

supporting that Vostok figure is definitely pushing this too far.”

Race continued to stare at the Inspector in silence. The Arab sighed again

and added:

„Our faith and ideology are very, very different. So are our political

beliefs.” He looked at Bannon „However, I understand clearly how serious the

situation is. Helping Vostok is an uncalled-for act of hostility against

half of the world. Because our country is located in such a volatile part of

the world, it can...”, he paused searching his mind for an appropriate word.

 „...it can start the Third World War?”, Doctor Quest finished the sentence

for him, raising his eyebrows.

Nasser swallowed hard. He didn't want to use such a terse and strong

expression. He didn't want to hear it because of his own soul's

tranquillity... but he had to admit the Doctor was right. „That's what it

can cause, Doctor”, he said quietly, „I can understand a lot, but this is

beyond my imagination. The system Vostok is pushing is dead. It brought half

the world to ruin . . . including this country. This is... is... oh, Allah

akbar!”, he complained, looking to the ceiling and shaking his head.

Race leaned forward, resting his elbows on his knees, and looked at Benton.

The older man was looking at the table's surface saying nothing. Al-Nasser

was not such a bad man. „So what shall we do?”, Benton asked.

 „I will do whatever I can to help you and your children.”, he stared at

Benton solemnly, „This won't be easy, but you can count on me and my men.”

**************

 “This is not true!”  Jessie exclaimed.

“But that’s how it is.” Grigorii said calmly.

“Listen up . . . Jonny . . . would never . . . do it!” Jessie sputtered, her

hands helplessly balled into fists.

 „Jessie, you have to believe it! Your friend shot Ivan and fled in one of

our jeeps. Your father and the Doctor were taken to El Hofra then.” He

paused for effect, „Jessie, I'm telling you the truth! I want to help you!”

Jessie clenched her teeth.  He was lying . . . that was obvious.  Jonny

would give his life for any member of his family.  He would rather die than

let any harm come to them . . . and he certainly wouldn’t have run, leaving

them behind and helpless!  Vasiliev was trying to turn her against Jonny for

some purpose of his own.  She was certain of it.  But why?  What did he hope

to gain?

Vasiliev approached her and gently put his hands on her shoulders.  She

shivered, and suddenly, memories flared.  This had been tired on her once

before.  She stared at Grigorii, but it was not his face she saw . . .

rather, she saw Ruben Calderone.  He had almost ruined everything in her

life.  She hated Ruben like on one else that she knew.  And suddenly, she

found herself loathing Grigorii with equal intensity.

Jessie's right hook hit him right across his jaw. Her face was pale, her

green eyes filled with fury. The punch threw him three feet back. When he

looked up at her, the mask was gone.  His intentions were clearly written on

his face, and they were even more terrifying than his obliqueness had been.

Jessie backed off realizing this man was drunk, out of his mind, and

dangerous. He grabbed her by her shoulder and tried to pull her closer, but

Jessie grabbed his arm and twisted it, throwing him off balance. The alcohol

obviously dimmed Grigorii's mind freeing low and primitive instincts. He was

crazy...

Jessie felt her blood freeze when she saw that animal craving in his eyes.

Using his own weight against him, she slammed him face-first onto the floor.

 „Stay away from me!”, the girl hissed as Vasiliev got up, glaring at her

inhumanly. Jessie backed off even more, until she felt solid wall behind

her. Searching for anything, her hand met a long metal object. She grasped

it firmly, keeping it hidden from him, and continued to move away as he

stalked her.

 „You shouldn't have done that!", Grigorii snarled. He was shaking in fury

and his face shifted from pale to red and back again as he stared at her. He

was beyond coherent thought, the fury, alcohol and lust combining to make

him nothing but a mindless animal. Grigorii advanced on the girl again.

Jessie stood her ground in the middle of the room defiantly, watching and

waiting for her chance. As he reached for her again with grasping fingers,

she moved. Darting to one side, she swung the metal object with as much

force as she could. It caught Grigorii in the side of the head, and he

dropped to the floor like a stone.

Jessie stood there, breathing quickly, staring at the motionless body. After

a moment, she looked down at the lead pipe in her hands. There was blood on

both the pipe and her hands. Abruptly, she flung it away from her in

disgust. She knelt at Grigorii's side and checked him over quickly. His

pulse was strong and she couldn't feel any evidence of a skull fracture. She

thought he would be okay...although between all the alcohol and the blow to

the head, he would probably have a nightmarish headache. She released her

breath in a thankful sigh...at least she hadn't killed him. She could

have...very easily...and that had not been her intent.

But she couldn't afford any more time. Reaching out, she snatched up the key

to the room, rose to her feet and darted for the door. Moving with care, she

eased the door open and checked the corridor. It was quiet and deserted. She

closed the door silently and turned back to the room again, thinking hard.

The first thing she needed to do was see to it that Grigorii didn't wake up

and raise an alarm. She needed all the time she could get before they

discovered she was missing. After hunting for something to tie him up with

for a few minutes, she settled for a cord out of a nearby TV set. She also

gagged him with a piece of fabric torn from one of the nearby curtains. Once

that was done, she returned to the door again and checked the corridor.

Still empty. She slipped out carefully, locking the door behind her, and

headed back the way she and Grigorii had come. She had to get back to

Caroline.

The girl moved quickly, but quietly along the long corridor, doors on one

side, row of unglassed, windows with heavy curtains on the other. The palace

had a big square interior garden that Jessie could see from the windows. She

was on the first floor. As she gazed out into the garden, she saw a shadow

move in one of the windows that looked out on the garden across from her.

Jessie immediately ducked behind a narrow wall between two windows. After a

while, she carefully looked out the window again. The shadow was gone. She

narrowed her eyes, focusing on the row of windows... there he was! The

shadow was already somewhere else, sneaking along the corridor around the

garden... Jessie realized he would get to her side of the building any

moment. The corridor was long and she would be clearly seen, even though

most of the lights were off. Without thinking, she jumped behind a curtain

at one of the windows. Fortunately, it was long enough to cover her feet. An

instant later, the shadow appeared at the end of the corridor. Jessie

stiffened as she heard his footsteps. There were sounds of music coming from

inside the palace... al-Jabbar must be having a party. But that only made

the silence deeper... and the footsteps more clear. The man walked fast...

or rather he ran, stopping every several meters. Why? Was he looking for

someone? For her?

Jessica was prepared for the worst. The man approached closer and closer...

The girl held her breath, trying not to make a sound.  When the man passed

by her, she let out a soundless sigh of relief. She waited a few seconds,

then carefully looked from behind the curtain... Her breath caught sharply

when she saw him... The man heard that. He whirled and scanned the corridor,

tense as a cat, searching for the source of the sound. He froze, staring in

disbelief, as Jessie stepped out from behind the curtain.  Then he ran

toward her. The corridor, the palace, the soldiers, the danger...everything

faded to nothing...as Jessie found herself engulfed in Jonny's tight

embrace.

 „Oh Jonny Jonny Jonny...”, she kept repeating his name as she nuzzled his

shoulder. He rested his own head against hers, saying nothing. Still not

entirely understanding what had happened, they just held each other tightly,

their hearts soaring in joy. They were together again, and nothing else

mattered.

**********

Caroline kicked the small round table that stood in the middle of the room

in despair and began to cry. She was alone... the only people that cared

about her were dead.  And now Jessie was gone, too. She never even had a

chance to know her. Imprisoned somewhere in a sealed terrorist country, with

the people she loved gone, and the new friend she had barely met taken away,

she finally lost the remains of faith and hope she nursed in her heart. She

held her pillow tightly...a pitiful substitute for the warmth she needed,

and would never get. She realized she'd never see her homeland again. She'd

never hear her language. She'd never receive any warmth and care. Several

minutes passed and Caroline still sobbed into a pillow. Nobody heard. Nobody

knew. Nobody cared. She heard the sound of a key turning in a lock, then a

squeak of opening door. She ignored it all.

 „Hey, it's me!”, Caroline sat up immediately when she heard Jessie's voice.

The red-headed girl stood right in front of her with a triumphant smile on

her face. For some unexplained reason, hope returned and Caroline suddenly

began to feel that maybe things would work out after all. Behind Jessie,

Caroline noticed a young blond man guarding the door for them. She looked up

at Jessie, her expression blend of joy, concern, hope, and astonishment.

Seeing this, Jessie smiled and announced: „Come on. We're taking you home.”

**********

Lanterns cast bright light throughout the courtyard, and Jonny could easily

count the enemy, tell their location and equipment. A jeep drove to the main

gate and the guards let it through without [any more checking] anything more

than a brief glance. Maybe that was their chance. One thing was

certain...they had to get out fast. Somebody would definitely notice their

escape soon. Jonny bit his lip and scanned the whole courtyard again. All

they needed was an opportunity. Every second spent like this, doing nothing

except watching seemed like an hour. Suddenly, Jonny stiffened. „Jess, see

those cars over there?”, Jonny whispered.

Jessie looked in the direction Jonny pointed. It was a very sharp

angle...there were some bushes and a warehouse of some sort. Well lit up.

And there were a few jeeps parked there. "Yeah?"

 „Well? What do you think?”, the boy asked.

 „Uh... seems that's the best alternative we have.”, Jessie sighed, „Still

suicidal, but the best.

Jonny pointed at the warehouse building. It was a simple tin structure,

built around a frame of metal bars. „This is how I got in. The depot's

obviously just temporary, that's why they build it so close to the palace.

We can get on top of it from a palace window.”

 „Then we'd jump down into those bushes. Or use that tree...”, Jessie added.

 „That Acacia? That's how I climbed onto the depot. OK, as soon as we get

there, we'll get some transport.”, he took a breath and looked into Jessie's

eyes...those beautiful eyes he missed so much...,but they had to move.

„Ready?”

 „As I'll ever be!”, Jessie smiled.

Caroline just nodded with a confused expression. Too much was happening all

at once for her to take it all in. But she followed this pair confidently.

Somehow, she had the feeling not much could stop these two when they set

their minds to something.

**********

Jessie lay on the depot's roof and fixed her eyes on one of the jeeps below

her. It was a Lada Niva... more civilized and faster than normal Russian

UAZes. The immediate vicinity of that side of the depot was totally deserted

except for a single guard keeping an eye on the cars. The girl knew however,

that the entrance was well guarded... whatever was in there, it was valuable

to al-Jabbar. Caroline cautiously peeked through one of the windows in the

roof. Crates. Hundreds of crates stored in perfect order. She leaned forward

a bit more... „Jessie!”, she whispered.

The red-haired girl quietly appeared right next to her. One glance was

enough for her. „Those are weapons. Guns, missiles... all sorts.”

 „Wow... The sheik is a weapons dealer?”

 „Yeah, it seems so. Just like Zin, although he went for stealing new

technologies too...”, Jessie explained.

 „Who's Zin?”, Caroline asked in confusion.

 „Someone we met once. It's a long, long story.  One day I'll tell you about

it.”, Jessie answered. „OK, let's go!”, she added when she heard a triple

cough from below them. That was their signal.

Both girls slid down the same African Acacia tree which Jonny used to climb

on the roof. They ran to the jeep. Jonny welcomed them with a cheerful grin,

wearing the guard's clothes. The guard himself was unconscious and stuck

into the trunk of one of the UAZes.

**************

 The morning sun lit up the sheik's palace. The green of the garden, white

of the walls and clear blue sky seemed like an image from an oriental

fairy-tale. A golden, decorative fish appeared at the surface of one of the

pools in the garden to swallow a juicy bug, which fell from the bank. The

fish suddenly bolted away when a huge shadow covered the pool, and an Ural

rumbled through the alley and stopped in front of the palace entrance,

followed by a Niva, both with blood-red stars painted on their doors. The

fairy-tale impression burst like a soap bubble. Several pairs of military

boots hit the ground heavily with a muffled thud, as a squad of soldiers

jumped down from the truck and formed up between the Niva and the palace

entrance. Two men got out. Vostok narrowed his eyes as he scanned the

building. A wince crossed his face. Plotkin, who arrived with him, realized

that the General was somewhat dissatisfied. Plotkin noticed some expensive

cars earlier at the sheik's property. That was unusual. Working with

Al-Jabbar was nerve-racking, but his money and influence in the local

government were indispensable to them. There was no other place in the world

their rebel army could hide in such certain safety. Al Jabbar's patronage

allowed them to dig an underground sub pen similar to the one at Severomorsk

and to drill a mile-long tunnel to the camouflaged entrance. Nikolai

clenched his teeth. The fact was, their army was broke...they couldn't

afford to by anything, so they lived on al-Jabbar's money. Placing only

their own men in an archeological expedition was easy. But beyond that -

they had trouble keeping those few tanks and aircraft they had operational.

The guards at the door stood aside as Vostok and Plotkin approached it. The

Russians pushed the door open and entered into the hall. They walked to the

stairs, up to the first floor... It wasn't right. The General shouldn't be

walking all the way himself like that. When Plotkin looked at the older

man's face, he saw nothing except that cold, neutral expression... Vostok

pushed another door open and stepped into the sheik's favorite recreation

chamber. The room was decorated with potted palm trees and had a round pool

with a fountain in the center. The room also had mosaics on the floor,

quadroforia for windows, and a good view on the palace's internal garden.

 „Ah, welcome, General!”, al-Jabbar greeted the two officers, „My family

came for a business consultation yesterday... please forgive the disorder.”

He was sitting in an armchair next to the fountain, a table with a glass of

white wine in front of him. The whole chamber was cluttered... obviously a

party took place there last night. That would explain the cars outside.

 „Yes...”, Vostok narrowed his eyes, „Have you taken care of the girl

properly?”

 „Ah, yes... One of your men is looking after her.” The sheik stood up and

took Vostok by his shoulder in a friendly manner. Nikolai winced... he

glanced at the General's face. It was blank. Nothing but that neutral

expression... but his eyes, locked on al-Jabbar, were freezing cold. Plotkin

realized that his superior was barely keeping himself under control. „Let me

show you to her room...” The sheik passed between the two Russians and

gestured for the two men to follow as he led them from the room.

***********

Hadji shielded his eyes with his hand as the Quest Copter appeared from

nowhere and descended to settle on the ground at the location Inspector

al-Nasser specified as a landing site, blowing sand all around. The Hindu

felt the blowing sand bouncing off of his skin like thousands of pins, and

the dust itching his nose, but he didn't back off. He kept watching the

Sea-Knight until it was safely on the ground. The chopper's two rotors were

still spinning, as Hadji, Benton and Race ran towards the helicopter. The

pilot did a good job making their arrival secret. Inspector Nasser's men

kept an eye on the area around the landing site. The pilot's cockpit door

opened and a tall man, about Race's age, got out. He removed his headphones

and welcomed his friend with a wide grin.

„You son of a gun... what did you screw up this time?”

 „Cut the jokes, John.”, Race replied as he shook Travis' hand.

 „Nice to meet you again, Dr. Quest.”

 „Yes, it's been a long time, John”, Benton smiled.

 „What in the sam hill are *you*doing here?!”, Race's voice interrupted the

Doctor.

Benton turned to look at his friend, who was staring at a woman who just

gotten out of the helicopter.

 „What did you think I was going to do . . . sit at home and knit?  She's my

daughter, too, Race!”

 „We're in one hell of a mess already! You're just endangering...”

 „Race, Estella, stop it.”, Benton said calmly.

Race and Estella both turned to stare at the older man, then back at each

other. Finally, they both shrugged, and Estella said, "Fair enough.  What do

we do next?"

 „Let's just concentrate on how we can help them, all right?”, Benton's

pained expression immediately brought them back to reality. Really hard

reality.
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**********

 „How did this happen?!”, Plotkin was boiling with fury. The guard, tied up,

muffled and put in a jeep's trunk did not remember a thing. The others never

even noticed he was missing. The Colonel could not believe such

incompetence. Who did this? And why?  Nothing was missing at the depot. So

what was this about? He pulled out his cellular phone and started dialing

the General... halfway through the sequence, he was interrupted...

 „Nikolai!”, Vostok yelled through one of the palace windows, „Get the

mechanized infantry! Get the helicopters!”

Plotkin just stared at him. „What happened?

He didn't get any answer. Vostok was already back inside the palace,

shouting orders in fury. There could be just one reason. Young Bannon got

away. Plotkin dialed another number.

**********

„What happened? Talk to me, Vasiliev!”, Vostok was shaking the other man

like a rag doll. Plotkin stopped at the door, startled. Dried blood was

smeared over one side of the young lieutenant's face and head and his arms

were tied behind his back. Vostok had bothered to remove only the gag and

was now demanding answers from the addled young officer.

 „The girl...”

Vostok's eyes narrowed, glaring at the young man. „The girl what?”, he

growled.

Grigorii looked away from the General's face.

**********

The smell of fried peanuts filled the small room where the three young

people sat. An old Arab woman was deftly moving the peanuts around in the

pan, over a small fire in the middle of the room. A cup of strong gahua and

all the adrenaline in his blood kept Jonny up and running, but it was

obvious that he couldn't go much longer without sleep. In the bright light

of day, Jessie could see his bloodshot eyes and the dark circles under them,

as well as how pale he was. But despite that, she could see happiness

reflected in his eyes. She understood...she was equally happy. The events of

the past few days seemed unimportant. They were together, and everything

seemed right again.

Caroline was muddled, but happy. She couldn't believe what had happened. The

moment Jessie entered her room was the beginning of a miracle. The same day,

everything changed. Three weeks after being captured by terrorists at silent

approval of the local authorities, she was going back home. She had lost the

people she loved...her mother and her boyfriend...,but she refused to think

about that. All that mattered to her right now was getting out of here.

 „Is Jonny your boyfriend? Your fiancé?”, She asked Jessie quietly, so Jonny

wouldn't hear.

 „Uh...”, the question caught Jessie off-guard ”What?”

Caroline smiled. „Is he your fiancé?”

 „Well... we're too young...”

Caroline looked at her curiously. Jessie sighed. „Hmm... kind of.” She

blushed as a smile formed on her face unwittingly. No one had ever asked her

that before. They had sorted out their feelings about each other so recently

that neither of them had had the chance to get accustomed to that idea yet.

They were determined to get married some day, but such a question was

something new for her.

 „What are you two talking about?”, Jonny asked.

 „Err... bugs in Windows ’98.”

 „Why did you lie?” The other girl asked her.

Jessie looked down, smiling timidly. After a while she muttered: „Jonny?”

 „Yes? What is it?”

 „We were talking whether you are my fiancé or not.”

 „And?”, Jonny smiled.

 „And I said you are.”

The boy laughed. They had definitely made some huge progress. They were

honest with each other. Not being honest about what they felt had made the

turning points in their relationship so painful. But they had learned their

lesson.

Jonny sat down next to Jessie, put his arm around her shoulders and hugged

her. The girl tittered. Caroline watched them with a joyful smile.

 „Your meal, my friends.” The Arab herdsman who offered them a place to rest

and a meal brought them appetizing portions of roast sheep and glasses of

clean, cold water.

 „Thank you...” Jonny said, taking the tray from the man's hands.

 „You're welcome, Effendi.”, the Arab answered, ”It's an honor for me that I

can help you.” The man's English was quite good, despite his barely

understandable accent. Jonny didn't ask him about that... he hoped the man

would explain it himself. „What you said happened to you is horrible...

Every one knows al-Jabbar is a very bad man.”

 „So we noticed.”, Jonny winced, „Who is he exactly?”

 „Exactly? An oppressor. He is a very rich man, who owns most of the land

near Mizda.” Jonny and the two girls listened with interest, as the man

continued, „He was buying modern weapons to sell for a high price every time

there is a war. He has sold weapons to Hussein, to Palestine...”

*In other words, to the highest bidder*, Jonny thought.

 „Do you know about him having something to do with General Vostok's rebel

forces?”, he asked aloud.

The man knit his eyebrows and bulged his lips, thinking. „There are foreign

soldiers here...,but I don't know who they are.”

*So they're so sure of their local buddies that they're not even disguising

themselves... maybe except for the structures visible by satellites...*

„Thank you." When the man left them, Jonny looked at Jessie, both of them

sharing the same thought. They wouldn't get much more from the locals than

they already had. But it was enough. The sheik was a weapons dealer, and an

important figure in Libya. Important enough to arrange a whole sub pen

secretly for Vostok. Terrorists co-operating with each other. The question

was why.  And what did they want from them? Anyway, they had to keep moving.

Their jeep was well hidden, and the Russians and the sheik's men had no idea

which direction they were heading, but staying with these people any longer

was too dangerous...for both the Arab family and for them.

***************

 „Let's see... Jonny said something like -in Miz...", I guess he was trying

to tell us where he was.” Race was studying a detailed map of Libya, which

covered the entire table.

Al-Nasser approached him and looked down at the map. „I think...”, he

hesitated, „...I think I know where they may be.

Benton, Hadji and Race all looked at him. „Mizda. Mizda is the only town in

the area with its name beginning on 'Miz'.”

Benton's eyes were shining, as he looked somewhere above beyond the heads of

the others. „I hope you're not wrong.”

After a moment of silence, Hadji sighed. „And I hope we heard him right.”

Race placed his hand on the boy's shoulder. „That's all we've got. And we

must do whatever we can to find them.”, the man's voice was calm... for

someone who didn't know him. They had made a big step toward saving his

daughter and Jonny.

***********

 „Once again, thanks for everything.”

 „May Allah guide you!” The Arab family waved good-bye to them as their jeep

departed from the small hut. When it disappeared around a turn of the track,

Caroline turned away from the rear window.

 „Ah... how many kinds of local people are here.”, she sighed, „Those did

all they could to help us... gave us fuel...”

Jessie smiled. „And killed an ewe for us... despite how poor they are. And

yet they were happy to treat us.”

Caroline bowed her head. „But the others hate western people. Hate them so

much they would kill.”

Jonny sighed, „Sorry about your family...”

 „Yeah...”, she smiled sadly, „I just kept asking myself and God, why it was

me who survived? That's just not fair...”

Seeing a tear running down her cheek, Jessie turned to face her on the rear

seat, wanting to comfort her, but she didn't know what to say. Jessie

realized Caroline had once been very similar to her. She also traveled a lot

and had obviously been through a lot, too... Jessie withdrew to her seat.

The similarity between Caroline Clifford and her left her speechless. She

led quite a similar life. Travels and excitement. Until her family was

killed. Jessie's heart clenched painfully when she realized how close she

was to losing Jonny... her father... her mother... They led a dangerous

life. They had been lucky so far... A vision of herself, Race and Jonny

hanging over a cliff in Colombia haunted her... Jonny's line was giving

way... her father reaching his hand trying to catch him... A crack...

Jessie's breath caught painfully as she remembered Jonny falling... and her

frantic grab at the last minute that saved him. It had been pure luck. What

if her hand slipped? She shook her head, getting rid of that vision. That

was just one of many moments when they barely evaded death... And what

actually happened to Caroline? That wasn't spectacular at all. She had been

spending another normal day at the dig with her boyfriend and mother[...]

when a couple of men arrived in a jeep asking for their clearance and such.

Normal stuff. She had been with her mother any number of times when the same

thing had happened. Jessie reconstructed the tragedy in her mind. Dave

approached one of the men. Suddenly, for no apparent reason, the soldier

pulled out a gun and shot Dave in the head before he could let out any

sound. The excavation team in staring fright, shock and confusion. Why were

they killed? The apparent randomness of it wasn't even the worst part. It

was the attackers' ruthlessness. In that instant, Caroline and Dave's future

was destroyed...everything Caroline valued was obliterated like a sand

castle on a beach wiped out by an insensitive wave. Jessie looked at the

other girl again. She rested her head against the back seat bolster and her

eyes were closed. It could be her or Jonny sitting back there now. Jonny

noticed Jessie's uneasiness. Without saying a word, he put his hand on hers.

**********

 „Alright, let's move!”, Travis put on his hat and climbed into an open Land

Rover al-Nasser's men provided. Race was already behind the wheel. Two

policemen sat in the back. Hadji sat in front next to Race. Usually he was

the one to stay put. But right now he couldn't. Jonny and Jessie had been

gone for a whole day and night. They had heard nothing from either of them

since they had received Jonny's transmission. They were his closest family

and there was no way he would fail. The old warehouse far outside Homs was

very lively. Nasser's men were scanning the area carefully. They were on

their own, probably going against the whole rest of the Libyan police.

Nasser had decided to help Dr. Quest and his men followed his lead out of

loyalty and because they believed it was the right thing to do. They had

brought seven jeeps and were ready for the Inspector's orders.

 „We're staying with the basic plan?”, the young Hindu asked, looking at a

map.

 „Yep. We go take a look at Mizda, and the rest stay here. If we don't find

them or fail somehow, the Doc takes over and comes up with a backup plan of

some sort. Right now they just scan the radio frequencies for anything which

might be their call for help.”

Hadji looked startled, „This is your whole plan?”

Travis looked into the boy's eyes. „You have a better idea?”, he asked.

Hadji opened his mouth, but the man stopped him with a raised hand. „Listen,

we can't dispatch twenty men in cars to look for them. It would be as bad as

driving a pink Cadillac around with a huge loudspeaker yelling 'Hi, I want

to get the captives out, see?'„

Hadji listened to the man and finally nodded his head in reluctant

understanding. Then Race took over. „I don't feel good about it either. But

I would feel even worse if we all went searching.”

 „Yes, I get it...”, the boy sighed.

Travis gave him a pat on the back. „If this will comfort you, another car is

going after us to give us backup when we find them. Just in case.”

"If we find them"

The Land Rover departed, leaving Dr.Quest and Estella standing silently in

the warehouse door.

****************

 „Dad? Dr. Quest? Do you read?” After several minutes of calling Jessie

finally gave up. She hung up the microphone and looked at Jonny with

frightened eyes, „There's something wrong... something must have happened to

them!”

 „Don't give up, Jess...”

 „Listen, al-Nasser has been hovering around them all the time and...”

 „Jessie!”, the boy hushed her, looking into her eyes „Your dad wouldn't let

it happen."

She sunk her head and sighed.

 „They would be on a lookout for our transmissions...”

Jonny shook his head. „Not necessarily. We've been off the radio for some

time now and they probably realize it's better to go out looking than just

sit and listen.”

Jessie winced. Jonny was trying to comfort her, but his point didn't make

much sense. The QUV had a radio. However she had to admit he could be

right... There were many possible reasons that could explain their silence.

 „I'll try again in a couple of minutes.”

 „I'm sure they are OK and looking for you.” Caroline cut in, „I'd love to

meet your dads.  From what you've told me about them, they sound so nice and

exciting.”

 „Yeah, exciting it is, no doubt.”, Jonny laughed.

 „... nny, Jessie, can you hear me? Jon...”, Jessie grabbed the CB

microphone.

 „Doctor Quest!”, she exclaimed in happiness, „We're here, we're here!”

Jonny could only imagine what was going on in his father's mind right now.

„Oh God, kids!”, Benton laughed and cried simultaneously, „Are you two all

right?”

Jonny took the microphone from Jessie. „Yeah, we're fine Dad! All three of

us!”

 „Three? Jonny, what...”

The boy laughed, „Later, dad! Where are you? We're heading northwest from

Mizda, there's only one track in that direction...”

 „We'll pick you up! Hold on son!”

 „How? It's far!”

 „We have the Quest Copter. Meet us... at the spot where your track crosses

the road from Jefren to Giado.”

Jessie grabbed the microphone from Jonny. „The Quest Copter?! My mom's

there?”

After a few seconds a new voice spoke. "Yes, Jessie, I'm here.  Hang on,

someone is on the way.  Just get to the rendezvous and *stay* there, you

understand me?"

Jessica tittered. That was her mother. Always the same. „Will do, Mom. Just

get us out of here, 'K?”

 „We're on our way!", some movement was heard, then Estella's voice again,

shouting from some distance „Start it up now! We're taking off, right away!”

**********

„Now that's what I call a gala procession...”

Several trucks, some IFV's and a couple of tanks were moving along a narrow

road in a canyon, leaving a cloud of dust behind them. Twenty vehicles in

total. Very hurried.

„Jesus... What are they up to?”, Bannon wondered, observing them from above.

 „Race!”, Hadji popped up behind him, „They contacted Jonny and Jessie!”

Race's heart skipped a beat. „Where are they?!”, he exclaimed.

 „Uh... on their way to a rendezvous point with the helicopter. Between

Jefren and Giado.”

 „And where is that?”, Race addressed Travis.

 „Not so far... Northwest from Mizda. We're to the northeast.”

Hadji could read Race's way of thinking now. „So? Are we going?”

 „And fast!” They ran to the car. Hadji glanced down on the convoy below one

more time.

A shiver ran through his spine, seeing Vostok's agile T-80's and the twin

cannons and missile rails of the T-95 Mammoth tanks. Were they looking for

Jonny and Jessie? Obviously.

 „Uh, this is not good.”, the boy moaned.
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**********

Jessie replaced Jonny behind the wheel, so he could finally get some sleep.

Despite the blazing sun, he fell asleep instantly. Jessie questioned how

restful the sleep could be, but at least it was something. They had been

traveling for half an hour now, and the flat wasteland had been replaced by

dry hills, rocks, valleys and canyons. Some dry bushes were visible here and

there.

 „How far is it from here?”, the other girl asked quietly.

 „Probably about another 15 minutes or so.”, she reached for the radio,

„Calling Quest Copter, do you read?”

Instead of an answer, intense, horrid noise of interference was heard.

„Aw, I thought this was a private frequency!”, Caroline groaned.

Jessie released the transmitting button, but held the communicator in front

of her, staring at it in silence. „This is no interference, the frequency is

being scrambled!”

 Jonny woke up from the nap, „Let's try some of the emergency ranges...”, he

reached down to the radio under the car's cockpit.

 „Uh oh... Jonny...”

 „Not now...”, Jonny turned some knobs on the radio. „I think I've got it.

What the?!”, he exclaimed when the car turned suddenly.

 „Oh my God! Left, turn left!”, Caroline instructed frantically.

Jonny finally managed to get up from the radio. Jessie was driving awfully

fast for that rugged, unpaved track that snaked along the steep hillside.

The car was jolting violently, but Jessie switched to a higher gear and

pressed the accelerator even harder than before, her teeth clenched and

mouth pursed. She kept glancing in the mirror... Jonny looked back. There

was nothing there... Suddenly he felt his heart stop for a moment as a Hind

helicopter emerged from behind the hill on the curve they had just passed.

The boy opened his mouth and kept staring at the gunship chasing them with

wide eyes.

 „Hey, snap out of it! Do something!”, Jessie shook his arm.

 „Like what?!”, he exclaimed, „You want me to spit at him or what?!”

The rugged nature of the track had prevented the helicopter from getting a

lock on them... But it was only a matter of seconds before it did. Jonny

grabbed the CB microphone, praying that the emergency frequencies were free.

***********

 „How far?”

John Travis laughed. „If you keep driving like this we'll arrive before the

chopper!”

Hadji looked up from the map and stared at their guide. He noticed him

smiling to himself, and understood why. Where Jessie was concerned, there

was nothing Race wouldn't do for her. Hadji smiled to himself too.

 „We're under attack, repeat, we're under attack by a gunship helicopter!!!

Dad, Race, can you hear me?! We're under...”

Hadji reached to grab the communicator, but Race was faster, despite the

fact that he had his hands full driving. „Jonny! Where are you?!”

 „How should I know?! Still on the track, we can't go anywhere else!” Race

felt his blood freeze.

 „Race?! Race!!”

Hadji grabbed the microphone, „Jonny!”

 „Hadji? Stop passing the mic all around and do something, for heaven's

sake!!!”

 „Sorry my friend! Er... er...”. Hadji glanced at his map, „We are on a side

track which crosses yours several miles from here! Have you passed any

crossings?”

 „No... no I don't think so!”

 „Way to go, Hadj...”, Race gave him a pat on the shoulder, then took the

communicator from him. „Hang on there kid, we'll be waiting at the

 crossing!”

As soon as Race hung up, the Land Rover darted forward leaving a cloud of

dust behind. „Holy shit... Get the chopper, kid!”, Travis exclaimed.

But Hadji had already been reaching for the communicator, even before Travis

had the idea.

**********

 „Oh no, it's a straight line from here!”, Jonny exclaimed as they rounded

the last curve. They were sitting ducks. Caroline turned her head to see the

helicopter level up behind them. Jessie jerked the wheel hard as the

helicopter's Gatling gun blazed fire. Rocks and a cloud of dust burst from

the ground to the left and behind the car. They were aiming for the tires.

Jessie jerked the wheel the other way, evading the second burst. Caroline

clutched the seat in front of her in fright. Jessie was performing miracles

to evade the bullets, and Jonny decided they should stay in touch with the

others and reached to the radio again. Suddenly, their world was rocked by a

violent explosion.  The windows of the car blew into hundreds of tiny

pieces, smoke obscured everything around them, and the sound seemed to

pierce their eardrums.  And the next instant everything went silent . . .

*****************

Blue. Jonny remembered how he used to lie down on the ground and look up at

the endless sky, so incredibly blue. Funny. It didn't seem it he was looking

up. It felt like his back was glued to something, and he was looking down...

nothing under him. Just the void... so endless and blue. Some part of his

mind wished he could just let go and fly out into that endless blue.  But

what was that crack on this beautiful sky? An ugly crack... and another one,

and another... and yet another and more. Broken glass? What was broken glass

doing on the sky? With an effort, he tried to focus on that thought, and

with that effort a horrible pain exploded in his skull. Like someone was

drilling a hole in his temple. That woke him up. And made him realize he was

hurt. And indeed, there was broken glass. Right in front of his face... and

the cracks weren't just cracks. Those were edges of broken pieces of their

car's window. Jonny painfully turned his head. He was lying... and what were

the car seats doing on the ceiling? They crashed, and crashed badly. The car

was turned upside down, broken glass everywhere. The front window was

blocked by bent metal. The roof had collapsed as the bulk of the weight of

the jeep rested on it.  He looked around frantically, searching for Jessie

in fear. Finally he realized Jessie was lying, across his belly, unmoving.

But she was breathing. In general, the whole world was upside down, and one

big mess. Jonny tried to move and gently wriggle out from underneath

Jessie... hoping none of his limbs was broken.

 „Going someplace, malczyk?” A pair of upside-down legs in heavy combat

boots blocked his sight. He looked up and saw a man in a pilot's uniform.

Russian.

 „We must have taken a wrong turn, right?” The man didn't answer. No sense

of humor.

***********

Benton turned pale, staring at the scene in front of him in silence. Estella

moaned in fear. „Hey, you still there? Ben?! Estella?!”

 „We're here, Race...”, the woman answered hoarsely into her headset,

thousands of emotions boiling in her heart. Jessie and Jonny being attacked.

And it seemed the Soviets got them. Whatever that meant. Estella didn't know

what had happened to Jessie. Was she injured? Dead? And she wasn't in a

position to help.

 „The Russians have a chopper there and a tank unit heading that way! You

can't go there, turn back!”

Estella rallied immediately. „I WON'T leave my daughter!”

 „You won't help the kids that way! Contact the AWACS over the Mediterranean

and tell them what's going on! Use my code!”

The woman clenched her teeth, and two tears ran down her cheeks. She needed

to be with her daughter. But then again, Race was right. „Okay...”, she

whispered to the microphone.

Dr. Quest switched the radio frequency to the military range, and tuned it

to contact the AWACS jet... If there was any up there at the moment. Estella

nodded.

***********

  „Autsh, that hurts!”, Caroline snarled at the soldier who pulled her out

of the Niva's wreck and made her stand next to Jonny and Jessie. The Hind

stood about thirty feet away, its rotor still silently and slowly spinning.

The other soldier scanned the three, keeping them at gunpoint.

 „What are you gonna do?”, Jonny demanded.

 „Not your problem.”, the man grinned as a group of military vehicles

emerged from behind the canyon's curve. Jonny's remaining hope faded away

when he saw them. IFV's, tanks, trucks, jeeps... They had no chance. He felt

Jessie sliding her hand into his... he squeezed it. Suddenly Jonny's heart

pounded as he heard another helicopter. Jessie held her breath... But the

sound was different. It wasn't the Quest Copter. A small MI-2 was coming in

to land. Vostok.

Indeed, as soon as the machine touched down the General and his aide,

Plotkin, got out. Bandaged, Vasiliev emerged from the helicopter after them.

Jonny watched the officers, saying nothing. If only Vostok's face expressed

something... but it didn't. No triumphant grin. No anger. Just that creepy

stone cold indifference. Jonny watched him approach them in silence. A fly

buzzed somewhere nearby... wind howled in the canyon. Vostok looked at them

coldly. Time seemed to be passing so slowly...

Suddenly, something unexpected happened. A soldier jumped out of one of the

trucks.

„Comrade General! Comrade General!”

 „What now?”, Vostok turned around, glaring at the man.

 „The radio...”, he gasped, „...You'd better listen to it, General!”, he

explained handing Vostok a receiver.

The General looked at the man for a few second, then turned it on. „...This

is the United States of America Air Force in the name of the President of

the United States of America!...”

 „Cut it short.”, Vostok snarled to the radio.

Jonny, Jessie and Caroline listened in astonishment. „Any act of aggression

against US citizens in Libyan territory will be considered an act of

aggression against the United States of America, and dealt with in that

manner.” Over the sound of the voice, a jet engine could be heard in the

background. The soldiers looked at their commander, confused.

**********

 „I hope it works...”, Estella whispered. The engines moaned at high RPM as

the Quest Copter rose from behind a rocky hill... right in front of the

Russians. Benton clenched his teeth. They contacted the AWACS easily enough.

Race and Travis took over the conversation, then. What they said and who

answered, he didn't know. Either the AWACS crew were doing this on their

own, risking an international incident and possibly triggering a war, which

was doubtful, or they had clearance from the Pentagon. The question was,

would it work?

***********

Jessie turned her head to see a Sea-Knight helicopter hovering over the

canyon. „Oh God, no!” She could recognize the Quest Copter anywhere.

Vostok, who had already hung up, laughed, looking at the lone aircraft. He

turned to his men. „Shoot the engines. Carefully.”

 „No!”, Jessie cried.

Jonny looked helplessly at Vostok, then at the helicopter, than at Vostok

again, despair rising in his heart, He was about to attack the mustached

man. But that would kill them all. This could not be happening. He watched

Vostok turn his face towards the Quest Copter again. Every second felt like

eternity. Jessie grabbed his arm and they clung to each other as they

watched helplessly. Why didn't they run? They knew they would be destroyed

or captured, why didn't they run?! The mobile SAM launcher among Vostok's

tanks should fire any second...

„I said *shoot* it!”, Vostok repeated.

Jonny realized nothing was happening. „This is not a good idea, General...”,

Plotkin suggested.

Vostok's face turned red. „Whhhaaaat?!”, he glared at the Colonel, „You say

you are afraid of those threats?! Why are we fighting with them, then?!”

Vostok seemed to be about to grab Nikolai and shake him just like he did

with Grigorii.

 „It's not that...” He swallowed hard and nodded towards the soldiers and

vehicles behind him. Vostok looked at them... and turned pale. Jonny looked

at what made such an impression on him. The tanks were aiming at Vostok. The

boy felt like his legs were made of wood. Something incredible was

happening.

 „We won't let you kill us all.” One of the Libyans said dryly.

Memories revived in Plotkin's mind. They were aboard an Akula submarine...

despite the protests, Vostok launched two torpedoes, which got stuck in the

ice, destroying one of their submarines. Vostok was capable of sacrificing

everything and everyone to achieve what he wanted.

The Quest Copter closed in to the scene, but nobody even cared.

The General glared at the Arab. Then at the others. Most of the people in

this squad were Libyans. They were trained fighters. In 'guerrilla' actions

all over the world, al-Jabbar's men were known to be fearless. But

obviously, none of them was ready to cause a war with the United States for

some foreign General's pleasure.

Vasiliev pulled out a hand gun and pointed it at the Arab who addressed

Vostok. Immediately, he found himself a target for most of the Libyans in

the squad. The Russians picked random targets. Stalemate.

Meanwhile the helicopter stopped in the air about fifty feet from the three

teenagers, slowly turned around so the rear ramp would be closer, and

started descending.

„Destroy it!!!”, Vostok yelled again.

Jonny swallowed... he took Jessie's hand and nodded at Caroline. He took a

breath and made a step towards the landing helicopter. „Stop!”, Vostok

shouted, pointing his Makarov at them.

Instantly, all the Libyans turned their guns on him. Plotkin held his

breath. This game was a horror. Vasiliev pursed his mouth, glaring at the

three young people walking away. That wasn't possible... they couldn't get

away! He couldn't allow it! He watched the red-haired girl who had

humiliated him like that... at the boy with her... at the girl whom they

rescued from captivity. No, this could not be allowed. Vostok clenched his

teeth. His arm shook. Finally, he threw the gun on the ground. He realized

he had lost.

Jonny and the two girls kept going, hearts pounding, as the helicopter

touched down. It kept the RPM up and opened the rear ramp. Just a couple of

feet more to safety. At last. Jonny held Jessie's hand tighter to encourage

her. She looked at him and smiled.

 „NO!” A gunshot cut through the air... followed by a dozen others. The boy

crouched, instinctively shielding Jessie. The firing stopped just as quick

as it started. Sand blown by the Quest Copter's rotors pricked Jonny's

face... the humming of the helicopter was the only sound he could hear.

Still holding Jessie tightly, he slowly opened his eyes. The helicopter was

still there, so was Jessie, shivering. He turned his head to Vostok's men

and noticed a curled body on the ground. A body in a Soviet uniform.

 „Oh my God...”, Jessie whispered.

Vasiliev's hand clenched his gun for the last time in agony. Then his

fingers loosen up and stiffed. He was lying unnaturally on his side, mouth

opened in surprise, and his dead, blank eyes looking somewhere far away in

the sky... Jessie looked away.

 „Get out of there!”, she heard her mother's voice.

 „Jonny, let's move! Jonny?”, she looked down to see Jonny kneeling down

next to another body. A wave of pain gripped her. Caroline Clifford lay

dead, her chest covered in blood. Jessie's eyes filled with tears as she

kneeled down and leaned over the body.

„No... no... it can't be!”

Caroline's eyes were closed... her face was calm. Jessie realized the bullet

was meant for her or Jonny... And Caroline shielded them. She was so much

more than she seemed at first... Jessie felt somebody grab her and pull

away.

******************

 „This isn't fair!  Not fair at all!”, Jessie kept repeating. Jonny was

sitting next to her, his head bowed, saying nothing. Estella hugged her

daughter, but the death of her new friend made her inconsolable. Caroline

had not deserved all the things that had happened to her. She had lost

everything And when she had almost been safe, she had died. Just a couple of

steps more.

For Jonny, it was also a shock. They rarely failed... and this time he hoped

everything would work perfectly. Wrong. Seeing somebody die is always a

shock. But with Caroline, it was different... That was so unfair. She almost

made it. The cruelty of reality was unbelievable. Human life was so

fragile...so delicate...and so easy to destroy.. Even by a stupid accident.

Everything was set... They would meet Race and Travis at al-Nasser's place,

and fly the Dragonfly back home. Travis would stay with the Quest Copter and

help settle the situation. They wouldn't have to worry about the AWACS crew

who played a deadly game with the terrorist... one that could cause a war,

as General Bennett had authorized them to take the actions they had.

Bennett would handle any fallout from that. But did he do it just because

Dr. Quest was so important for the government? Or from some sense of

friendship? Not that it mattered...it was over now.

***********

 „Mom...”, Jessie whispered.

 „Shh... everything's okay now...”

 „No it's not!”, she lifted her head from her mother's shoulder and

straightened up, fire in her eyes, „It's not okay! This should have never

happened!”, the girl cried.

Estella held her again, trying to think of what she could say that would

comfort her daughter. „The world is not okay.”, she looked into her

daughter's eyes, „It's cruel. And merciless. But you should...”, she paused,

searching for appropriate explanation.

 „Make my heart its better side?”, Jessie quoted her own words she said many

years ago.

 „More or less.”, The woman smiled, caressing her daughter's cheek.

A faint smile appeared on her face. „I'm doing my best, mom...”

Jonny was staring out the window blindly, watching stones and dry bushed

pass by under the helicopter without really seeing them. They made it.

Jessie was safe and they had managed to solve their problem with the

terrorists for now. But the price for that had been very high. Could they

have avoid it? They didn't even get a chance to know the poor girl. They

knew only the tragic parts about her. Who had she been outside of that. What

had she liked? Where had she gone to school? What hopes and dreams had she

had for the future? But none of those questions could be answered now. And

in the end, she had proved to be so much more than anyone had ever imagined

He woke up from his reverie when Jessie gently placed her hand on his

shoulder.

 „It could have been worse...” ,she whispered.

Jonny sighed. „Yeah... But I won't call it good.”

He took her hand in his and squeezed it gently. Their experience was a

shock. And Caroline and her family had paid the price for it. Maybe

Caroline, after the horror she had been through, just couldn't allow  it to

happen again to someone else? She saved them... Each time Jessie thought

about it, she discovered new aspects. It wasn’t just about the girl. It

could have been her or Jonny just as well. She always thought she understood

her life was dangerous for her and the all the people she loved. But now she

realized that more clearly. Death could take away any of them very suddenly,

even by an accident. Should she accept the danger as a part of her life and

go on? Or give it up, and have a simple, easy life like most other girls

had? She rubbed her cheek against Jonny’s hand on her shoulder. *No way* she

smiled at the thought as she clung up to to the boy. Her family and their

way of life was all she really had.

The first shock was slowly wearing away, thus revealing the tragedy in even

clearer shape. Compassion for Caroline... concern for Jessie... flashback of

the tragedy... all these thoughts were mixing up in Jonny's head, creating a

kaleidoscope of emotions. What he was definitely sure of was his love to

Jessie, resting her head against his shoulder and looking out the

helicopters window, to the upcoming future.

End

Okay... archivers, please please please pleeeeeezzzzzzzzzz take it. Just

tell me where you put it up, 'kay? Did anybody even read it? Hello?!

<Jonny's voice echoes around> Guys, I need FEEDBACK! PLEASE!!!!
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